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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
If there was ever a doubt that the oilfield services industry was cyclical in nature, the divergence in activity levels and ensuing 
financial results from 2014 to 2015 is stark evidence. In 2014, Calfrac reported record annual revenue and the second highest 
operating income in the Company’s history with crude oil prices peaking at US$107.26 per barrel. In 2015, commodity prices 
and activity deteriorated significantly, which shifted Calfrac’s focus to cost control, parking equipment and meaningfully 
reducing its headcount across North America in an attempt to remain profitable. 

Today, the price of oil is below US$40.00 per barrel as a result of a global oversupply driven by sharp production increases from 
U.S. shale producers, an OPEC decision to protect market share and slowing demand growth stemming from China and other 
emerging countries. Select OPEC and non-OPEC producing countries continue to produce at record levels and dramatic cuts 
to exploration and production capital expenditures in the United States have not yet had a material impact on production 
volumes. In addition, U.S. crude oil inventories remain at record highs and are threatening to go higher in the short term. While 
the international rig count has witnessed a pullback which we believe should help the global oversupply, in our view, it will be 
a sharp decrease in U.S. crude oil production that will have the more meaningful impact. 

Overall, Calfrac believes the current downturn is shaping up to be the worst in decades. Given that the Company is expecting 
2016 to be an even more challenging year than 2015, it remains focused on continuing to restructure the business, manage 
costs and navigate through this complicated business environment. Calfrac remains committed to its key stakeholders, being 
its shareholders, customers, lenders, suppliers and employees, as these groups are critical to its success through all parts of 
the energy services cycle. 

UNITED STATES OPERATIONS
Over the course of 2015, the U.S. land based rig count fell over 60 percent, pressure pumping pricing eroded to a historic low 
and Calfrac elected to park roughly half of its horsepower and cementing units, and all of its coiled tubing units. Following a 
year of record growth in 2014, last year was a dramatic shift from a financial performance perspective, but the Company 
continued to demonstrate strength in regards to quality, safety, efficiency and the retention of a top tier customer list. Calfrac’s 
safety statistics in the U.S. showed improvement in 2015 with a reduction in both Total Recordable Injury Frequency and Lost-
Time Injury Frequency. Service quality followed on a path of continuous improvement with non-productive time reduced year-
over-year in 2015.

The U.S. pressure pumping market remains significantly oversupplied with both equipment and service providers. There have 
already been a number of bankruptcies, growing cannibalization of pumping assets and a lack of repair and maintenance 
spending, which the Company believes will result in approximately five million horsepower or 25 percent of supply being 
eliminated from the market by the end of 2016. Conversely, on the demand side, the U.S. land-based rig count is below 500 
rigs and falling, showing that the worst may still lie ahead. While the Company manages through the downturn, it will remain 
focused on aggressively managing its cost structure, scaling back operations to match anticipated activity levels while 
maintaining top tier safety and efficiency performance. 

CANADIAN OPERATIONS
Overall, operating and financial results in Calfrac’s Canadian division held up better than the U.S. in 2015 which was a function 
of fewer competitors, greater pricing discipline among peers and customer mix. The Canadian division was also able to maintain 
its strong safety and service quality performance in 2015. Despite the relative strength in 2015, with the rig count trending at 
the lowest level in three decades, the Canadian pressure pumping landscape has deteriorated meaningfully, with expected 
activity levels and pricing mirroring that of the U.S. pressure pumping market. As such, the Company has and will continue to 
scale back its operations to match anticipated activity levels. One of the hardest decisions the Company has had to make related 
to the closure of its Medicine Hat district in early 2016, as it was the original base from which Calfrac commenced operations 
in 1999. This decision is evidence that the Company is determined to do whatever is necessary to make it through these difficult 
times. 

RUSSIAN OPERATIONS
Russia has remained a very steady market for Calfrac, with the division maintaining strong utilization over the course of 2015. 
While not immune from the impact of lower commodity prices, the effects have been significantly less than that experienced 
in our North American  operations. Although the sanctions in the country have impeded Russia’s unconventional development 
and the potential for increased activity for Calfrac, stable activity in conventional plays are expected to result in similar activity 
levels in 2016. That said, reported financial results will be impacted by the volatility of the Russian rouble. As evident from 
2015 results, despite the devaluation, the Company was able to maintain consistent margins on a percentage basis as a result 
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of the majority of Calfrac’s costs being denominated in roubles. On a positive note, the Company has been successful in attracting 
new customers and further diversifying its customer base in 2016. 

LATIN AMERICAN OPERATIONS
At the end of 2015, Argentina underwent a drastic shift with the election of President Mauricio Macri, a business-friendly 
conservative and a proponent of a free-market economy. President Macri and his government have already implemented 
changes to the country’s previous policies that Calfrac believes are generating the basis for future foreign investment and will 
contribute to the continued development of Argentina’s conventional and unconventional oil and gas resources. Throughout 
2015, Calfrac was able to expand its customer base and geographic footprint through its expansion into southern Argentina 
which, in combination with the additional fracturing fleet commencing operations in the first quarter of 2016, is expected to 
offset the slowdown that the Company is currently experiencing in the Neuquén area. 

In Mexico, the Company was proactive in scaling back its operations to match anticipated activity levels and with few remaining 
competitors left in country, Calfrac will be well-positioned to respond to increased demand in the future. Although Mexico 
continues to experience low activity due to customer budget constraints, a trend we expect to continue throughout 2016, 
Calfrac continues to expect activity in the longer-term to increase as the implementation of Mexico’s national energy reforms 
moves forward. 

STRUCTURING FOR THE FUTURE
The North American oilfield services industry is set to face another challenging year in 2016. Despite Calfrac having already 
taken an aggressive approach to cost savings initiatives in 2015, regrettably it was not enough to navigate through the next 
eight to twelve months. As such, the Company’s most recent restructuring efforts that took place at the beginning of 2016 
aimed at right sizing the business to expected activity levels include: 1) the closure of Calfrac’s Beebe, Arkansas and Medicine 
Hat, Alberta districts as well as a temporary suspension of operations in the Company’s San Antonio, Texas district; 2) additional 
headcount reductions at the field, district and corporate levels across North America amounting to approximately 500 people; 
and 3) further discretionary spending restrictions. 

Retaining key employees has always been a keen focus for Calfrac but unfortunately with this downturn shaping up to be the 
worst in decades, the Company has had to make some difficult decisions, and has been forced to let go some of its longstanding 
employees. The Company is determined to work through this challenging industry environment and will continue to assess 
the viability of its operating districts and evaluate additional cost cutting initiatives. 

LIQUIDITY AND BALANCE SHEET
Towards the end of 2015, the Company secured a flexible set of amendments which illustrates the confidence our banking 
syndicate lenders have in our ability to execute in these challenging market conditions. Most notably, we have secured a 
covenant holiday for the first and second quarters of 2016 and introduced an equity cure provision. The equity cure provision 
provides us with the ability to apply the proceeds of an equity offering in the calculation of EBITDA when calculating our Funded 
Debt to EBITDA covenant in any quarter ending before and including December 31, 2017. The equity cure can be used twice 
so long as it is not used in consecutive quarters, with each cure not to exceed the greater of 50 percent of total trailing twelve 
month EBITDA or $25 million. Calfrac feels that it has proactively mitigated a considerable amount of risk with its credit facility 
amendments and complementary equity offering to fully fund an initial equity cure. 

Although the Company acknowledges that its current level of debt is significant, the majority of Calfrac’s total debt is comprised 
of US$600 million of subordinated notes which are not due until the end of 2020 and carry no maintenance covenants. The 
Company continually assesses optionality in this regard, and will only conclude a transaction if we believe it is in the best 
interests of the Company and its stakeholders.

LICENSE TO OPERATE
Calfrac continues to believe that strengthening its License to Operate is one of the key drivers of the Company’s historical 
success and its ability to achieve our longer term objectives.  Our License to Operate is based on protecting the health and 
safety of our employees and other stakeholders where we operate to the absolute best of our ability, flawless execution in the 
field that sets us apart from our competitors, and the application of technology to enhance our value proposition. During 2015, 
we continued to advance our API-Q2 certification process and continued the development and implementation of several 
industry leading training programs for our field level employees aimed at improving our health and safety performance, 
increasing our workforce productivity and developing a highly capable team that can execute on our long term objectives.  
Finally, we advanced several technical initiatives aimed at improving our service capability and working with our clients to 
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optimize the results achieved through their programs.  While we continue to see intense pricing pressure in the market we do 
believe that there has been some movement away from strict pricing based decision making and back towards service quality 
as our clients come to understand the risk of engaging lower quality service providers.  Hence, our License to Operate is critical 
to our performance now and in the future, so we must continue to place a high value on this cultural element of the Company.

LOOKING FORWARD
There is no doubt that the year ahead will have its challenges. Over the last year, the Company has been focused on scaling 
back its operations to a level that will enable it to withstand the current downturn, while at the same time maintaining a 
presence in the markets that are integral to the future success of Calfrac. The Company will continue to closely monitor that 
balance, and is prepared to do whatever it takes to see through what is shaping up to be the most challenging market in decades. 
Overall, Calfrac’s experienced Board of Directors and management team are committed to effectively managing the business 
in order to protect and enhance the long-term viability of the Company. 

Fernando Aguilar
President and Chief Executive Officer

March 11, 2016
Calgary, Alberta, Canada
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) for Calfrac Well Services Ltd. (“Calfrac” or the “Company”) has been 
prepared by management as of February 23, 2016 and is a review of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations 
based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The focus of this MD&A is a comparison of the financial performance for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. It should 
be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 as well as the 
audited consolidated financial statements and MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Readers should also refer to the “Forward-Looking Statements” legal advisory at the end of this MD&A. All financial amounts 
and measures presented are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated. The definitions of certain non-GAAP 
measures used are included on pages 26 and 27.

CALFRAC’S BUSINESS
Calfrac is an independent provider of specialized oilfield services in Canada, the United States, Russia, Mexico and Argentina, 
including hydraulic fracturing, coiled tubing, cementing and other well stimulation services.

The Company’s reportable business segments during the year ended December 31, 2015 were as follows:

• The Canadian segment is focused on the provision of fracturing and coiled tubing services to a diverse group of oil and 
natural gas exploration and production companies operating in Alberta, northeast British Columbia, Saskatchewan and 
southwest Manitoba. The Company’s customer base in Canada ranges from large multi-national public companies to small 
private companies. At December 31, 2015, Calfrac’s Canadian operations had active horsepower of approximately 223,000 
and six active coiled tubing units. At the end of the fourth quarter, the Company had temporarily idled approximately 
202,000 horsepower and 12 coiled tubing units.

• The United States segment provides pressure pumping services from operating bases in Arkansas, Colorado, North Dakota, 
Pennsylvania and Texas. The Company provides fracturing services to oil and natural gas companies operating in the Bakken 
oil shale play in North Dakota; in the Rockies area, which includes the Piceance Basin of western Colorado, the Uintah 
Basin of northeast Utah and the Denver-Julesburg Basin centered in eastern Colorado and extending into southeast 
Wyoming, including the Niobrara oil play of northern Colorado; and in southern Texas, where it services the Eagle Ford 
shale play. Calfrac provides fracturing and cementing services to customers operating in the Marcellus and Utica shale 
plays in Pennsylvania, Ohio and West Virginia. During the second quarter of 2015, the Company suspended its fracturing 
operations in the Fayetteville shale play of Arkansas and plans to suspend all operations in that play during the first quarter 
of 2016. At December 31, 2015, Calfrac’s United States operations had combined active horsepower of approximately 
352,000 and 10 active cementing units. At the end of the fourth quarter, the Company had temporarily idled approximately 
322,000 horsepower, eight cementing units and five coiled tubing units.

• The Company’s Russian segment provides fracturing and coiled tubing services in Western Siberia. During 2015, the 
Company operated under a mix of annual and multi-year agreements to provide services to a number of Russia’s largest 
oil producers. At December 31, 2015, the Company operated seven deep coiled tubing units and approximately 70,000 
horsepower forming seven fracturing spreads in Russia.

• The Latin America segment provides pressure pumping services from operating bases in Argentina and Mexico. In Argentina, 
the Company provides fracturing, cementing and coiled tubing services to oil and natural gas companies operating in the 
Neuquén, Las Heras and Comodoro regions. The Company also provides fracturing and coiled tubing services to customers 
operating in the Burgos field of northern Mexico. The Company had approximately 131,000 horsepower, 13 cementing 
units and seven coiled tubing units in its Latin America segment at December 31, 2015.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW – YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 VERSUS 2014

CONSOLIDATED HIGHLIGHTS

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s, except per share amounts) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Revenue 1,495,205 2,496,931 (40)

Operating income(1) 29,384 357,210 (92)

   Per share – basic(2) 0.31 3.80 (92)

   Per share – diluted(2) 0.31 3.77 (92)

Adjusted EBITDA(1) 52,057 357,295 (85)

   Per share – basic(2) 0.54 3.80 (86)

   Per share – diluted(2) 0.54 3.77 (86)

Net income (loss) attributable to the shareholders of Calfrac (221,594) 66,976 NM

   Per share – basic(2) (2.31) 0.71 NM

   Per share – diluted(2) (2.31) 0.71 NM

Working capital, end of period 305,952 441,234 (31)

Total assets, end of period 1,815,823 2,157,367 (16)

Long-term debt, end of period 927,270 738,386 26

Total equity, end of period 623,719 832,403 (25)
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Comparative amounts were adjusted to reflect the Company’s two-for-one common share split that occurred on June 2, 2014.

2015 OVERVIEW
In 2015, the Company:

•  generated revenue of $1.5 billion versus $2.5 billion in 2014, the decline being due primarily to lower activity and pricing 
in North America, offset partially by revenue growth in Argentina and the continued industry trend of greater service 
intensity - and more stages completed per well in Canada and the United States;

• reported adjusted EBITDA of $52.1 million compared to $357.3 million in 2014, a decrease of 85 percent, mainly as a result 
of reduced activity and weaker pricing for the Company’s services in Canada and the United States. Financial results in 
Argentina also contributed to the year-over-year decline in adjusted EBITDA due to lower pricing and higher SG&A and 
district overhead costs associated with the Company’s expanded unconventional fracturing operations; 

• recorded an impairment charge with respect to property, plant and equipment of $114.5 million, primarily related to the 
Company’s United States operations, compared to $4.6 million in 2014;

• recorded an impairment charge with respect to inventory of $14.3 million related to the Company’s North American 
operations;

•  reported a net loss attributable to shareholders of Calfrac of $221.6 million or $2.31 per share diluted, which included the 
property, plant and equipment and inventory write-downs noted above, compared to net income of $67.0 million or $0.71
per share diluted in 2014; 

• amended its credit facilities to provide increased financial flexibility;

• closed a bought deal private placement of 20,370,370 common shares for total net proceeds of approximately $25.2 
million; and

•  incurred capital expenditures of $157.9 million, which were focused on the expansion of its fracturing fleets in the United 
States, Argentina and Canada.
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CANADA

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s, except operational information) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Revenue 533,102 942,947 (43)

Expenses

Operating 487,634 744,135 (34)

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) 10,545 23,041 (54)

498,179 767,176 (35)

Operating income(1) 34,923 175,771 (80)

Operating income (%) 6.6 18.6 (65)

Fracturing revenue per job ($)(2) 31,809 35,811 (11)

Number of fracturing jobs(2) 15,755 24,857 (37)

Active pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 223 394 (43)

Idle pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 202 — —

Total pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 425 394 8

Coiled tubing revenue per job ($) 24,020 29,942 (20)

Number of coiled tubing jobs 1,330 1,763 (25)

Active coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 6 17 (65)

Idle coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 12 — —

Total coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 18 17 6
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Comparative amounts have been adjusted to reflect job count as fracturing stages completed.

REVENUE
Revenue from Calfrac’s Canadian operations during 2015 was $533.1 million versus $942.9 million in 2014. The decrease was 
primarily due to a mix of lower pricing and lower demand for the Company’s fracturing services. Revenue per fracturing job 
decreased by 11 percent from the prior year primarily due to lower pricing and job mix offset partially by greater service 
intensity. Coiled tubing jobs decreased by 25 percent from the prior year due to lower activity in all operating regions.

OPERATING INCOME
Operating income in Canada during 2015 was $34.9 million compared to $175.8 million in 2014. The decrease in operating 
income was the result of significantly lower pricing and utilization partially offset by cost reductions for proppant, third-party 
subcontractors and chemical costs. The impact of a weaker Canadian dollar on the cost of proppant and chemicals that are 
primarily sourced from the United States partially offset the product cost reductions achieved through supply chain initiatives. 
SG&A expenses declined by 54 percent year-over-year, primarily due to workforce reductions and a lower compensation 
structure combined with a reclassification of $5.3 million of employee costs from SG&A to operating costs during 2015. The 
Company also recorded restructuring costs totaling $5.0 million during the year (2014 - $2.8 million), of which $1.5 million was 
recorded in SG&A.
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UNITED STATES

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s, except operational and exchange rate information) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Revenue 652,007 1,214,560 (46)

Expenses

Operating 629,842 981,685 (36)

SG&A 22,222 32,391 (31)

652,064 1,014,076 (36)

Operating income(1) (57) 200,484 (100)

Operating income (%) — 16.5 (100)

Fracturing revenue per job ($) 49,091 60,045 (18)

Number of fracturing jobs 12,639 19,360 (35)

Active pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 352 699 (50)

Idle pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 322 — —

Total pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 674 699 (4)

Coiled tubing revenue per job ($) 51,750 58,010 (11)

Number of coiled tubing jobs 55 203 (73)

Active coiled tubing units, end of period (#) — 5 (100)

Idle coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 5 — —

Total coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 5 5 —

Cementing revenue per job ($) 49,224 37,155 32

Number of cementing jobs 583 1,085 (46)

Active cementing units, end of period (#) 10 18 (44)

Idle cementing units, end of period (#) 8 — —

Total cementing units, end of period (#) 18 18 —

US$/C$ average exchange rate(2) 1.2787 1.1045 16
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Source: Bank of Canada.

REVENUE
Revenue from Calfrac’s United States operations decreased to $652.0 million in 2015 from $1.2 billion in 2014 due to significantly 
weaker pricing combined with lower fracturing activity. The number of fracturing jobs completed during 2015 decreased by 
35 percent from 2014, primarily due to lower activity in Pennsylvania, North Dakota, south Texas and the closure of operations 
in the Fayetteville, partially offset by higher activity in the Rockies. Revenue per job declined by 18 percent year-over-year as 
a stronger U.S. dollar was more than offset by lower pricing. In addition, the volume of proppant per fracturing job decreased 
by 26 percent from the prior year despite the continued trend of greater service intensity per wellbore as the Company 
experienced lower activity in higher service intensive regions such as the Marcellus shale play in Pennsylvania. 

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
The Company’s United States division operated at a break-even level in 2015 after generating operating income of $200.5
million in 2014. The decline was primarily due to significantly lower pricing in all markets and decreased utilization in all of the 
resource plays where the Company operates with the exception of Colorado. The Company also recorded restructuring costs 
totaling $5.8 million during the year (2014 - $3.1 million), of which $1.1 million was recorded in SG&A. Mitigating the overall 
trend were pricing reductions for proppant and chemicals. SG&A expenses decreased by 31 percent in 2015 from the same 
period in the prior year due to cost reductions made towards the end of the first half of 2015, the benefit of which continued 
throughout the remainder of 2015. 
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RUSSIA

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s, except operational and exchange rate information) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Revenue 137,876 171,703 (20)

Expenses

Operating 119,705 145,999 (18)

SG&A 3,428 6,970 (51)

123,133 152,969 (20)

Operating income(1) 14,743 18,734 (21)

Operating income (%) 10.7 10.9 (2)

Fracturing revenue per job ($) 88,913 109,680 (19)

Number of fracturing jobs 1,297 1,289 1

Pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 70 70 —

Coiled tubing revenue per job ($) 42,238 54,543 (23)

Number of coiled tubing jobs 534 556 (4)

Coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 7 7 —

Rouble/C$ average exchange rate(2) 0.0210 0.0292 (28)
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Source: Bank of Canada.

REVENUE
The Company’s revenue from Russian operations decreased by 20 percent to $137.9 million from $171.7 million in 2014. The 
decrease in revenue, which is generated in roubles, was primarily related to the 28 percent devaluation of the rouble in 2015 
versus 2014. The decline in the rouble was partially offset by higher fracturing activity in one of its operating districts, where 
Calfrac provides proppant to its largest customer. Revenue per fracturing job declined by 19 percent due to the currency 
devaluation but was partially offset by an increase in average job size and a modest rouble-based pricing increase.

OPERATING INCOME
Operating income in Russia declined to $14.7 million during 2015 from $18.7 million in 2014 primarily due to the 28 percent 
devaluation of the rouble, which was largely offset by improved operational leverage in one of its operating districts. The 
operating income percentage declined slightly due to Calfrac providing a large volume of proppant to a customer, which is 
priced at lower margins than completion service work, offset partially by slight pricing increases. SG&A expenses declined by 
51 percent in 2015 from the prior year due to the devaluation of the rouble combined with cost reductions implemented during 
the year.
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LATIN AMERICA

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s, except operational and exchange rate information) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Revenue 172,220 167,721 3

Expenses

Operating 143,089 124,710 15

SG&A 15,836 16,153 (2)

158,925 140,863 13

Operating income(1) 13,295 26,858 (50)

Operating income (%) 7.7 16.0 (52)

Pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 131 91 44

Cementing units, end of period (#) 13 13 —

Coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 7 7 —

Mexican peso/C$ average exchange rate(2) 0.0806 0.0830 (3)

Argentinean peso/C$ average exchange rate(2) 0.1388 0.1364 2
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Source: Bank of Canada.

REVENUE
Calfrac’s Latin American operations generated total revenue of $172.2 million in 2015 versus $167.7 million in 2014. The increase 
resulted from the significant growth in fracturing and coiled tubing activity in Argentina, which included the start-up of a second 
unconventional crew in December 2014. The Company also experienced revenue growth in the Las Heras region, which is more 
focused on conventional activity. Revenue in Mexico was lower in 2015 than in the previous year due to significantly lower 
activity in that country. 

OPERATING INCOME
Operating income in Latin America during 2015 was $13.3 million compared to $26.9 million in 2014. Operating income was 
lower due to reduced pricing in Argentina combined with lower equipment utilization and higher SG&A and district overhead 
in Argentina related to the Company’s expanded unconventional fracturing operations. Calfrac is also currently using 
subcontractors for services such as flowback and well testing more regularly than in 2014, which has had a negative impact on 
operating income as a percentage of revenue. In addition, the Company recorded US$6.4 million of foreign exchange and 
inflation adjustments in 2014 as a result of the settlement of fracturing contracts, which added to operating income that year. 
There were no such adjustments in 2015.
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CORPORATE

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Expenses

Operating 6,974 11,848 (41)

SG&A 26,546 52,789 (50)

33,520 64,637 (48)

Operating loss(1) (33,520) (64,637) (48)

% of Revenue 2.2 2.6 (15)
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.

OPERATING LOSS
The 48 percent decline in corporate expenses in 2015 from 2014 includes a reduction in stock-based compensation expense 
of $10.7 million resulting from a significant decline in the Company’s stock price. In addition, the Company reduced costs during 
2015 to align its cost structure with anticipated activity levels. These initiatives contributed approximately $23.6 million to the 
overall decrease in corporate expenses primarily by reducing corporate personnel costs and annual bonuses. The Company 
also recorded restructuring costs totaling $2.3 million during the year (2014 - $0.9 million), of which $1.4 million was recorded 
in SG&A. 

DEPRECIATION
For the year ended December 31, 2015, depreciation expense increased by 12 percent to $156.6 million from $139.4 million
in 2014. The increase was mainly a result of a weaker Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSSES
The Company recorded a foreign exchange loss of $37.0 million during 2015 versus a loss of $30.2 million in 2014. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses arise primarily from the translation of net monetary assets or liabilities that were held in U.S. dollars 
in Canada, Russia and Latin America. The Company’s 2015 foreign exchange loss was largely attributable to the translation of 
U.S. dollar-denominated liabilities held in Argentina and Russia as the value of the Argentinean peso and Russian rouble 
depreciated against the U.S. dollar during the year. The foreign exchange loss was partially offset by U.S. dollar-denominated 
assets held in Canada as the U.S. dollar appreciated against the Canadian dollar during 2015.

PROVISION FOR SETTLEMENT OF LITIGATION
During 2015, the Company recorded an additional US$1.5 million provision related to its U.S. litigation, as described in note 
23 to the consolidated financial statements, to reflect its current best estimate of the projected net cost of the settlement.  
The  total overall provision of US$5.5 million includes legal fees of approximately US$0.8 million. 

IMPAIRMENT
A substantial downward shift in the commodity price environment occurred in the fourth quarter of 2015 and crude oil and 
natural gas prices have continued to weaken since December. The Company anticipates continued relatively low pricing in 
2016. This decline in commodity prices and the negative impact on the Company’s operations has resulted in an impairment 
to the carrying value of some of Calfrac’s assets.  

The Company carried out a comprehensive review of its property, plant and equipment at the end of 2015 and identified items 
that were permanently idle or obsolete and, therefore, no longer able to generate cash inflows, which primarily related to 
Canada. In addition, the Company reviewed each of its cash generating units for potential impairment. As a result of this review, 
impairment charges were made in the United States and Mexico. Total impairment charges were $114.5 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2015 (2014 - $4.6 million). The impairment losses by CGU are as follows:
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For the year ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Canada 10,091 2,941

United States 102,528 401

Mexico 1,860 —

Colombia — 1,278

114,479 4,620

The Company also evaluated the net realizable value of its inventories at December 31, 2015 and recorded a $14.3 million
write-down (2014 - $nil).

At September 30, 2015, the Company completed an assessment for goodwill impairment and determined that the recoverable 
amounts of its operating segments were less than their carrying amounts, and wrote-off all of the remaining goodwill of $9.5 
million (2014 - $1.0 million). 

INTEREST
The Company’s net interest expense of $69.0 million for 2015 was $9.4 million higher than in 2014. Interest on U.S. dollar-
denominated debt was higher due to a weaker Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar. Loans on the Company’s revolving 
credit facility were consistent with the comparable period in 2014. 

INCOME TAXES
The Company recorded an income tax recovery of $114.1 million in 2015 compared to an expense of $48.7 million in 2014. 
The reversal to a recovery was the result of pre-tax losses incurred combined with an asset impairment of $114.5 million, the 
write-off of deferred tax assets in Mexico and Colombia totaling $15.7 million, an inventory write-down of $14.3 million and 
a goodwill write-down of $9.5 million. The effective tax recovery rate excluding these one-time items was 35 percent during 
2015 compared to a normalized effective tax rate of 34 percent in 2014.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Years Ended December 31,

2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)
(unaudited)

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities 121,062 202,469

Financing activities 45,877 13,483

Investing activities (155,050) (160,053)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 12,987 1,035

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 24,876 56,934

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
The Company’s cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $121.1 million versus $202.5 
million in 2014. The decrease was primarily due to lower operating margins in Canada and the United States, offset by the 
reduction of working capital during the year. At December 31, 2015, Calfrac’s working capital was approximately $306.0 million, 
a 31 percent decrease from December 31, 2014.

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $45.9 million compared to $13.5 million
in 2014. During 2015, the Company issued $25.2 million of common shares through a private placement, increased the amount 
drawn on its credit facility by $46.1 million, increased its bank loan in Argentina by $3.4 million, paid cash dividends of $18.9 
million and purchased $9.4 million under the normal course issuer bid.
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On October 1, 2014, the Company extended the term of its credit facilities by one year to September 27, 2018. The maturity 
may be extended by one or more years at the Company’s request and lenders’ acceptance. The Company also may prepay 
principal without penalty.

On December 11, 2015, Calfrac amended its credit facilities to provide increased financial flexibility. The amendment included 
a voluntary reduction in the total facility from $400.0 million to $300.0 million. The facilities consist of an operating facility of 
$30.0 million and a syndicated facility of $270.0 million. The interest rates are based on the parameters of certain bank 
covenants. For prime-based loans and U.S. base-rate loans, the rate ranges from prime or U.S. base rate plus 0.50 percent to 
prime plus 3.50 percent. For LIBOR-based loans and bankers’ acceptance-based loans, the margin thereon ranges from 1.50 
percent to 4.50 percent above the respective base rates. The facility was amended to increase the $100.0 million accordion 
feature to $200.0 million. The accordion feature is not available to the Company during the covenant relief period described 
below and ending on December 31, 2017. Additionally, for the quarter ended December 31, 2015 through the quarter ended 
December 31, 2017, advances under the credit facilities will be limited by a borrowing base. The borrowing base is calculated 
based on the following:

i. Eligible North American accounts receivable, which is based on 75 percent of accounts receivable owing by companies 
rated BB+ or lower by Standard & Poor’s (or a similar rating agency) and 85 percent of accounts receivable from 
companies rated BBB- or higher;

ii. 100 percent of unencumbered cash of the parent company and its U.S. operating subsidiary, excluding any cash held 
in a segregated account for the purposes of a potential equity cure; and 

iii. 25 percent of the net book value of property, plant and equipment (PP&E) of the parent company and its U.S. operating 
subsidiary. The value of PP&E excludes assets under construction and is limited to a maximum of $90.0 million until 
June 30, 2016 and $150.0 million thereafter. 

As at December 31, 2015, the Company had used $40.1 million of its credit facilities for letters of credit and had $110.0 million 
outstanding under its credit facility, leaving $149.9 million in available credit. 

The Company’s credit facilities contain certain financial covenants. Weakened market conditions attributable to the significant 
reduction in the price of oil and natural gas have required some oil and gas service companies to seek covenant relief from 
their lenders. Calfrac negotiated amendments including waivers and increases to certain of its financial covenant thresholds 
prior to the end of the fourth quarter, as shown below.

New Covenant

Years ended December 31, except as indicated in notes below 2015 2016 2017

Working capital ratio not to fall below 1.15x 1.15x 1.15x

Funded Debt to Adjusted EBITDA not to exceed(1)(2)(3) 4.50x 5.00x   4.50x/4.00x

Funded Debt to Capitalization not to exceed(2)(4) 0.30x 0.30x 0.30x
(1) Funded Debt to Adjusted EBITDA covenant has been waived for the quarters ended March 31, 2016 and June 30, 2016 and increases to 5.00x for September 30, 2016 and December 
31, 2016. The covenant declines to 4.50x for the quarters ended March 31, 2017 and June 30, 2017 and declines to 4.00x from the quarters ended September 30, 2017 and December 
31, 2017 and is set at 3.00x for each quarter after December 31, 2017.
(2) Funded Debt is defined as Total Debt excluding all outstanding senior unsecured notes. Total Debt includes bank loans and long-term debt (before unamortized debt issuance costs 
and debt discount) plus outstanding letters of credit (excluding a US$25.0 million letter of credit supporting an Argentinean bank loan) less cash on hand with lenders. 
(3) Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net income or loss for the period less interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, non-cash stock-based compensation, non-controlling interest, 
and gains and losses that are extraordinary or non-recurring. 
(4) Capitalization is Total Debt plus Equity attributable to the shareholders of Calfrac.

Proceeds from equity offerings may be applied, as an equity cure, in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA towards the Funded 
Debt to Adjusted EBITDA covenant for any of the quarters ending prior to and including December 31, 2017 subject to certain 
conditions including: 

i. the Company is only permitted to use the proceeds of a common share issuance to increase Adjusted EBITDA a 
maximum of two times; 

ii. the Company cannot use the proceeds of a common share issuance to increase Adjusted EBITDA in consecutive quarter 
ends;

iii. the maximum proceeds of a common share issuance permitted to be attributed to Adjusted EBITDA cannot exceed 
the greater of 50 percent of Adjusted EBITDA on a rolling four-quarter basis and $25.0 million; and 
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iv. if proceeds are not used immediately as an equity cure they must be held in a segregated trust account pending an 
election to use them for such purpose, and if they are removed from such account but not used as an equity cure 
they will no longer be eligible for such use.

On December 22, 2015, Calfrac closed a bought deal private placement of 20,370,370 common shares for net proceeds of 
approximately $25.2 million. The net proceeds of this offering are being held in a segregated account in accordance with the 
amended credit facilities pending an election to use them as an equity cure. Such an election may be made by Calfrac at any 
time prior to the completion of quarterly financial statements and the delivery of the covenant calculations for the relevant 
quarter to the lending syndicate. Throughout the period ending on December 31, 2017, amounts used as an equity cure will 
increase Adjusted EBITDA over the relevant twelve month rolling period and, will also serve to reduce Funded Debt.  When 
the funds are removed from the segregated account, as an equity cure or otherwise, they are expected to be used to fund 
capital expenditures, to reduce outstanding indebtedness, and/or to be used for general working capital and corporate 

purposes.    

As shown in the table below, at December 31, 2015, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants associated 
with its credit facilities.

Covenant Actual

As at December 31, 2015 2015

Working capital ratio not to fall below 1.15x 2.63x

Funded Debt to Adjusted EBITDA not to exceed 4.50x 0.68x

Funded Debt to Capitalization not to exceed 0.30x 0.02x

The indenture governing the senior unsecured notes contains restrictions on the Company’s ability to pay dividends, purchase 
and redeem shares of the Company and make certain restricted investments in circumstances where: 

i. the Company is in default under the indenture or the making of such payment would result in a default;
ii. the Company is not meeting the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio(1) under the indenture of at least 2.0:1 for the most 

recent four fiscal quarters; or 
iii. there is insufficient room for such payment within a builder basket included in the indenture. 

(1) The Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is defined as cash flow to interest expense. Cash flow is a non-GAAP measure and does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and is defined 
under the indenture agreement as net income (loss) attributable to the shareholders of Calfrac before depreciation, extraordinary gains or losses, unrealized foreign exchange gains 
or losses, gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment, impairment of assets, restructuring charges, provision for settlement of litigation, stock-based compensation, 
interest, and income taxes.

These limitations on restricted payments are tempered by the existence of a number of exceptions to the general prohibition, 
including a basket allowing for restricted payments in an aggregate amount of up to US$20,000. The indenture also restricts 
the ability to incur additional indebtedness if the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio determined on a pro forma basis for the most 
recently ended four fiscal quarter period for which internal financial statements are available is not at least 2.0:1. As is the case 
with restricted payments, there are a number of exceptions to this prohibition on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, 
including the incurrence of additional debt under credit facilities up to the greater of $175.0 million or 30 percent of the 
Company’s consolidated tangible assets.

As at December 31, 2015, the Company’s Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio was 0.8:1, which was less than the required 2.0:1 ratio. 
Failing to meet the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is not an event of default under the indenture, and the baskets highlighted in 
the preceding paragraph provide sufficient flexibility for the Company to incur additional indebtedness and make anticipated 
restricted payments, which may be required to conduct its operations during this period of weakened market conditions. 

On June 2, 2014, the Company’s common shares were split on a two-for-one basis to shareholders of record as of May 23, 
2014. On June 17, 2015, the Company reduced its quarterly dividend from $0.125 to $0.0625 per share, beginning with the 
dividend paid on July 15, 2015. On September 24, 2015, the Company further reduced its quarterly dividend from $0.0625 to 
$0.015625 per share, beginning with the dividend paid on October 15, 2015. On February 24, 2016, the Board of Directors 
suspended Calfrac’s dividend effective immediately. For Canadian income tax purposes, all dividends paid by Calfrac on its 
common shares are designated as “eligible dividends” unless otherwise indicated. 
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INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Calfrac’s net cash used for investing activities was $155.1 million in 2015 versus $160.1 million in 2014. Cash outflows relating 
to capital expenditures were $157.9 million during 2015 compared to $177.6 million in 2014. Capital expenditures were primarily 
to support the Company’s Argentinean, United States and Canadian fracturing operations. In addition, Calfrac used $9.5 million 
to finance a business combination during the year.

In light of the current environment the Company reduced its 2016 capital budget by approximately $10.0 million, down to 
$15.0 million. Partially offsetting the reduction is the impact of the strengthening U.S. dollar which increased expected carryover 
capital to $35.0 million up from $30.0 million. In total, Calfrac now expects to spend $50.0 million throughout 2016. 

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates on the Company’s cash and cash equivalents during 2015 was a gain of $13.0 
million versus $1.0 million during 2014. These gains relate to cash and cash equivalents held by the Company in a foreign 
currency.

With its working capital position, available credit facilities and anticipated funds provided by operations, the Company expects 
to have adequate resources to fund its financial obligations and planned capital expenditures for 2016 and beyond.

At December 31, 2015, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $124.0 million of which $25.0 million is held in a 
segregated account at the Company’s discretion, so that it may be utilized if required in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA for 
purposes of the Company’s bank covenants.

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. Employees have been granted options to purchase 
common shares under the Company’s shareholder-approved stock option plan. The number of shares reserved for issuance 
under the stock option plan is equal to 10 percent of the Company’s issued and outstanding common shares. As at February 
19, 2016, there were 115,579,598 common shares issued and outstanding, and 7,885,798 options to purchase common shares.

On September 24, 2015 the Company announced that the Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRIP) would be suspended and all 
shareholders of record would receive cash on October 15, 2015. The DRIP allowed shareholders to direct cash dividends paid 
on all or a portion of their common shares to be reinvested in additional common shares that would be issued at 95 percent 
of the volume-weighted average price of the common shares traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) during the last five 
trading days preceding the relevant dividend payment date.

NORMAL COURSE ISSUER BID
The Company filed a Notice of Intention (the “Notice”) to make a Normal Course Issuer Bid (NCIB) with the TSX on December 
12, 2014. Under the NCIB, the Company could acquire up to 7,177,721 common shares, which was 10 percent of the public 
float outstanding as at December 10, 2014, during the period commencing on December 17, 2014 and terminating on December 
16, 2015. The maximum number of common shares that could be acquired by the Company during a trading day was 117,011, 
with the exception that the Company was allowed to make one block purchase of common shares per calendar week that 
exceeded such limit. All purchases of common shares were to be made through the TSX, alternative trading systems or such 
other exchanges or marketplaces through which the common shares trade from time to time at the market price of the shares 
at the time of acquisition. Any shares acquired under the NCIB were cancelled. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the 
Company purchased 1,517,700 common shares under the NCIB at a cost of $9.4 million. A copy of the Notice may be obtained 
by any shareholder, without charge, by contacting the Company’s Corporate Secretary at 411 - 8th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, 
Canada, T2P 1E3, or by telephone at 403-266-6000.
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

Three Months Ended Mar. 31, Jun. 30, Sep. 30, Dec. 31, Mar. 31, Jun. 30, Sep. 30, Dec. 31,

2014 2014 2014 2014 2015 2015 2015 2015

(C$000s, except per share and operating data) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

(unaudited)

Financial

Revenue 547,638 502,957 697,440 748,896 600,383 319,553 289,075 286,194

Operating income (loss)(1) 64,117 44,833 126,058 122,202 27,844 (7,022) 2,775 5,787

Per share - basic(2) 0.69 0.48 1.33 1.29 0.29 (0.07) 0.03 0.06

Per share - diluted(2) 0.68 0.47 1.32 1.28 0.29 (0.07) 0.03 0.06

Adjusted EBITDA(1) 67,932 44,008 123,624 121,731 25,609 (3,696) 7,211 22,933

Per share - basic(2) 0.73 0.47 1.31 1.28 0.27 (0.04) 0.08 0.24

Per share - diluted(2) 0.73 0.46 1.29 1.28 0.27 (0.04) 0.08 0.24

Net income (loss) attributable to the
shareholders of Calfrac 8,946 (12,905) 44,465 26,470 (12,628) (43,277) (24,191) (141,498)

Per share - basic(2) 0.10 (0.14) 0.47 0.28 (0.13) (0.45) (0.25) (1.45)

Per share - diluted(2) 0.10 (0.14) 0.46 0.28 (0.13) (0.45) (0.25) (1.45)

Capital expenditures 27,331 35,312 62,909 52,033 52,669 50,356 24,945 29,964

Working capital (end of period) 338,916 334,320 393,653 441,234 413,950 340,639 296,816 305,952

Total equity (end of period) 803,904 794,615 828,537 832,403 818,825 775,646 742,972 623,719

Operating (end of period)

Active pumping horsepower (000s) 1,215 1,217 1,235 1,254 1,259 804 754 776

Idle pumping horsepower (000s)(3) — — — — — 455 533 524

Total pumping horsepower (000s)(3) 1,215 1,217 1,235 1,254 1,259 1,259 1,287 1,300

Active coiled tubing units (#) 34 36 36 36 37 20 20 20

Idle coiled tubing units (#) — — — — — 17 17 17

Total coiled tubing units (#) 34 36 36 36 37 37 37 37

Active cementing units (#) 31 31 31 31 31 26 28 23

Idle cementing units (#) — — — — — 5 3 8

Total cementing units (#) 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Comparative amounts were adjusted to reflect the Company’s two-for-one common share split that occurred on June 2, 2014.
(3) Excludes 60,000 pumping horsepower that had not been commissioned at December 31, 2015.

SEASONALITY OF OPERATIONS
The Company’s North American business is seasonal. The lowest activity is typically experienced during the second quarter of 
the year when road weight restrictions are in place due to spring break-up weather conditions and access to well sites in Canada 
and North Dakota is reduced (refer to “Business Risks – Seasonality” on page 36). 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FLUCTUATIONS
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are reported in Canadian dollars. Accordingly, the quarterly results are directly 
affected by fluctuations in the exchange rates for United States, Russian, Mexican and Argentinean currency (refer to “Business 
Risks – Fluctuations in Foreign Exchange Rates” on page 34).
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW – THREE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 VERSUS 2014

CONSOLIDATED HIGHLIGHTS

Three Months Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change
(C$000s, except per share amounts) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Revenue 286,194 748,896 (62)

Operating income(1) 5,787 122,202 (95)

   Per share – basic 0.06 1.29 (95)

   Per share – diluted 0.06 1.28 (95)

Adjusted EBITDA(1) 22,933 121,731 (81)

   Per share – basic 0.24 1.28 (81)

   Per share – diluted 0.24 1.28 (81)

Net income attributable to the shareholders of Calfrac (141,498) 26,470 NM

   Per share – basic (1.45) 0.28 NM

   Per share – diluted (1.45) 0.28 NM

Working capital, end of period 305,952 441,234 (31)

Total assets, end of period 1,815,823 2,157,367 (16)

Long-term debt, end of period 927,270 738,386 26

Total equity, end of period 623,719 832,403 (25)
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.

FOURTH QUARTER 2015 OVERVIEW
In the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company:

•  generated revenue of $286.2 million, a 62 percent decrease from the fourth quarter of 2014, resulting primarily from lower 
activity and pricing in North America, offset partially by revenue growth in Argentina;

•  reported adjusted EBITDA of $22.9 million versus $121.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2014, a decrease of 81 percent, 
mainly as a result of weaker pricing for the Company’s services in Canada and the United States combined with significantly 
lower equipment utilization in North America. Cost reductions implemented across the Company mitigated the decline in 
adjusted EBITDA;

• recorded an impairment charge with respect to property, plant and equipment of $114.5 million, primarily related to the 
Company’s United States operations, compared to $4.6 million in the comparable quarter in 2014;

• recorded an impairment charge with respect to inventory of $14.3 million, primarily related to the Company’s Canadian 
and United States operations;

• increased its United States litigation provision by US$1.5 million to a total of US$5.5 million;

•  reported a net loss attributable to shareholders of Calfrac of $141.5 million or $1.45 per share diluted, which included the 
write-downs of property, plant and equipment and inventory noted above, compared to net income of $26.5 million or 
$0.28 per share diluted in the fourth quarter of 2014; 

• amended its credit facilities to provide increased financial flexibility;

• closed a private placement of 20,370,370 common shares for total net proceeds of approximately $25.2 million;

•  reported period-end working capital of $306.0 million including cash of $124.0 million versus $441.2 million and $99.1 
million at December 31, 2014, respectively; and

•  incurred capital expenditures of $30.0 million, which were focused on the expansion of its fracturing fleets in the United 
States, Argentina and Canada.
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CANADA

Three Months Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s, except operational information) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Revenue 123,341 296,983 (58)

Expenses

Operating 109,651 222,154 (51)

SG&A 3,529 7,265 (51)

113,180 229,419 (51)

Operating income(1) 10,161 67,564 (85)

Operating income (%) 8.2 22.8 (64)

Fracturing revenue per job ($)(2) 26,201 34,814 (25)

Number of fracturing jobs(2) 4,368 8,025 (46)

Active pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 223 394 (43)

Idle pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 202 — —

Total pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 425 394 8

Coiled tubing revenue per job ($) 25,344 30,400 (17)

Number of coiled tubing jobs 351 579 (39)

Active coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 6 17 (65)

Idle coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 12 — —

Total coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 18 17 6
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Comparative amounts have been adjusted to reflect job count as fracturing stages completed.

REVENUE
Revenue from Calfrac’s Canadian operations during the fourth quarter of 2015 was $123.3 million versus $297.0 million in the 
same period of 2014. The 58 percent decrease was primarily due to significantly lower activity and lower pricing for the 
Company’s fracturing services. Revenue per fracturing job decreased by 25 percent from the same period in the prior year as 
a result of lower pricing offset partially by greater service intensity. Total proppant per reported fracturing job increased by 42 
percent over the prior year. Coiled tubing jobs decreased by 39 percent from the prior year’s fourth quarter due to lower activity 
in the shallow oil plays of Saskatchewan and in shallow gas areas of southern Alberta.

OPERATING INCOME
Operating income in Canada during the fourth quarter of 2015 was $10.2 million, which included restructuring costs totaling 
$4.0 million during the quarter (2014 - $2.8 million), compared to $67.6 million in the same period of 2014.  The Company 
mitigated the impact of lower activity and pricing through the implementation of several cost reduction initiatives designed 
to maintain the Company’s competitiveness in a lower-price environment. Operating costs were 51 percent lower than in the 
comparable quarter of 2014, which is attributable to the decline in activity combined with the impact of cost savings realized 
during the quarter. During the year, Calfrac realized reductions of approximately 30 percent for proppant, 22 percent for third 
party subcontractors and 11 percent for chemical costs. The significant reduction  in product costs were partially offset by the 
impact of a weaker Canadian dollar on the cost of proppant and chemicals that are primarily sourced from the United States. 
During the quarter, the Company had approximately 202,000 horsepower temporarily idled in Canada rather than operating 
at margins that did not meet its required financial returns. SG&A expenses declined by 51 percent year-over-year, primarily 
due to workforce reductions, which have totaled approximately 40 percent since the end of 2014, as well as to a lower 
compensation structure combined with a reclassification of $1.1 million of employee costs from SG&A to operating costs during 
the quarter. Overall, the Canadian division reduced its fixed cost structure by roughly 48 percent since the end of 2014. The 
Company also recorded restructuring costs totaling $4.0 million during the quarter, of which $1.5 million was recorded in SG&A. 
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UNITED STATES

Three Months Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s, except operational and exchange rate information) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Revenue 81,263 355,688 (77)

Expenses

Operating 80,193 292,990 (73)

SG&A 4,953 9,878 (50)

85,146 302,868 (72)

Operating income (loss)(1) (3,883) 52,820 NM

Operating income (loss) (%) (4.8) 14.9 NM

Fracturing revenue per job ($) 34,664 65,397 (47)

Number of fracturing jobs 2,191 5,237 (58)

Active pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 352 699 (50)

Idle pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 322 — —

Total pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 674 699 (4)

Coiled tubing revenue per job ($) — 45,043 (100)

Number of coiled tubing jobs — 61 (100)

Active coiled tubing units, end of period (#) — 5 (100)

Idle coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 5 — —

Total coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 5 5 —

Cementing revenue per job ($) 54,786 36,177 51

Number of cementing jobs 97 289 (66)

Active cementing units, end of period (#) 10 18 (44)

Idle cementing units, end of period (#) 8 — —

Total cementing units, end of period (#) 18 18 —

US$/C$ average exchange rate(2) 1.3354 1.1358 18
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Source: Bank of Canada.

REVENUE
Revenue from Calfrac’s United States operations decreased to $81.3 million during the fourth quarter of 2015 from $355.7 
million in the comparable quarter of 2014 due to significantly lower fracturing activity in Pennsylvania, south Texas, North 
Dakota and Arkansas resulting in 58 percent fewer fracturing jobs period-over-period. Activity in the Rockies remained resilient 
during the quarter due to an active customer base in this region. Revenue per job was 47 percent lower year-over-year due to 
significantly weaker pricing and, to a lesser extent, job mix. Proppant per fracturing job decreased by 26 percent from the same 
period in the prior year due to lower activity in more service intensive regions such as the Marcellus shale gas play.

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
The Company’s United States operations had an operating loss of $3.9 million during the fourth quarter of 2015, which included 
restructuring costs totaling $5.1 million (2014 - $3.1 million), compared to operating income of $52.8 million in the same period 
in 2014. The decline was primarily due to significantly lower pricing and utilization. Operating income as a percentage of revenue 
declined materially from 15.7 percent in the fourth quarter of 2014 to 1.5 percent in 2015 after adjusting for restructuring 
charges in both periods. The deterioration in the operating income percentage was due to intense pricing competition from 
many of the Company’s major competitors and lower equipment utilization in Pennsylvania, south Texas and North Dakota. 
Mitigating the overall trend were U.S. dollar pricing reductions for proppant averaging 38 percent, with chemical costs also 
down by approximately 25 percent from the beginning of the year. In addition, Calfrac had approximately 322,000 horsepower 
idled in the United States during the quarter. SG&A expenses decreased by 50 percent in the fourth quarter of 2015 from the 
same period in the prior year due to cost reductions that were initiated towards the end of the first quarter and continued 
throughout the remainder of 2015. Overall, the United States division has reduced its headcount and its U.S. dollar fixed cost 
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structure by approximately 60 percent since the end of 2014. The Company also recorded restructuring costs totaling $5.1 
million during the quarter of which $1.1 million was recorded in SG&A.

RUSSIA

Three Months Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s, except operational and exchange rate information) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Revenue 32,641 37,685 (13)

Expenses

Operating 27,664 30,687 (10)

SG&A 745 2,175 (66)

28,409 32,862 (14)

Operating income(1) 4,232 4,823 (12)

Operating income (%) 13.0 12.8 2

Fracturing revenue per job ($) 90,035 93,156 (3)

Number of fracturing jobs 301 350 (14)

Pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 70 70 —

Coiled tubing revenue per job ($) 39,578 46,610 (15)

Number of coiled tubing jobs 140 109 28

Coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 7 7 —

Rouble/C$ average exchange rate(2) 0.0202 0.0241 (16)
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Source: Bank of Canada.

REVENUE
During the fourth quarter of 2015, revenue from Calfrac’s Russian operations decreased by 13 percent to $32.6 million from 
$37.7 million in the corresponding three-month period of 2014. Russian revenue is generated in roubles and the decrease was 
primarily caused by the 16 percent devaluation of the Russian rouble in the fourth quarter of 2015 from the comparable quarter 
of 2014. The decline in the rouble was partially offset by higher fracturing and coiled tubing activity in Nefteugansk. Revenue 
per fracturing job declined by 3 percent due to the currency devaluation offset partially by the completion of larger jobs in 
Usinsk where weather permitted more activity in the area north of that city. Calfrac performs larger acid fracturing jobs in this 
region, which is only accessible by ice roads.

OPERATING INCOME
Operating income in Russia was $4.2 million during the fourth quarter of 2015 compared to $4.8 million in the corresponding 
period of 2014, the decline being primarily due to the 16 percent devaluation of the rouble. Operating income as a percentage 
of revenue was 13 percent, virtually unchanged. SG&A expenses declined by 66 percent in the fourth quarter of 2015 from the 
prior year’s quarter due to the impact of the depreciation of the Russian rouble combined with cost reduction initiatives, 
including lower bonuses and personnel reductions.
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LATIN AMERICA

Three Months Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s, except operational and exchange rate information) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Revenue 48,949 58,540 (16)

Expenses

Operating 40,254 41,125 (2)

SG&A 4,666 5,579 (16)

44,920 46,704 (4)

Operating income(1) 4,029 11,836 (66)

Operating income (%) 8.2 20.2 (59)

Pumping horsepower, end of period (000s) 131 91 44

Cementing units, end of period (#) 13 13 —

Coiled tubing units, end of period (#) 7 7 —

Mexican peso/C$ average exchange rate(2) 0.0797 0.0819 (3)

Argentinean peso/C$ average exchange rate(2) 0.1337 0.1334 —
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Source: Bank of Canada.

REVENUE
Calfrac’s Latin American operations generated total revenue of $48.9 million during the fourth quarter of 2015 versus $58.5 
million in the comparable three-month period in 2014. Revenue in Argentina increased by $2.2 million due to higher cementing 
activity offset partially by lower fracturing activity combined with a pricing decrease that was implemented during the first 
quarter of 2015. The increase in revenue in Argentina was more than offset by lower revenue in Mexico and Colombia during 
the quarter. Lower revenue in Mexico was the result of lower year-over-year activity and the depreciation of the Mexican peso. 
The Company completed its existing commitments in Colombia during the second quarter of 2015 and is in the process of 
closing operations.

OPERATING INCOME
Operating income in Latin America for the three months ended December 31, 2015 was $4.0 million compared to $11.8 million 
in the comparative quarter in 2014. Operating income in the fourth quarter of 2015 was lower due to decreased equipment 
utilization in Mexico, lower pricing in Argentina, and higher SG&A and district overhead costs in Argentina related to the 
Company’s expanded unconventional fracturing operations. In addition, the Company recorded a positive revenue adjustment 
in Mexico during the fourth quarter of 2014 totaling US$6.4 million that did not recur in the fourth quarter of 2015.
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CORPORATE

Three Months Ended December 31, 2015 2014 Change

(C$000s) ($) ($) (%)

(unaudited)

Expenses

Operating 1,871 4,180 (55)

SG&A 6,881 10,661 (35)

8,752 14,841 (41)

Operating loss(1) (8,752) (14,841) (41)

% of Revenue 3.1 2.0 55
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.

OPERATING LOSS
The 41 percent decline in corporate expenses from the fourth quarter of 2014 resulted from the Company greatly reducing its 
costs throughout 2015 to better align its cost structure with anticipated activity levels. These initiatives contributed 
approximately $12.0 million to the quarterly decrease in corporate expenses primarily by reducing corporate personnel costs 
and annual bonuses. The Company recorded restructuring costs totaling $2.3 million during the quarter (2014 - $0.9 million), 
of which $1.4 million was recorded in SG&A. Corporate SG&A included a recovery of stock-based compensation costs of $3.8 
million during the fourth quarter of 2014 compared to a recovery of $0.1 million in the same period of 2015.  

DEPRECIATION
For the three months ended December 31, 2015, depreciation expense increased by 12 percent to $40.3 million from $36.0 
million in the corresponding quarter of 2014. The increase was mainly a result of a weaker Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. 
dollar.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSSES
The Company recorded a foreign exchange loss of $33.5 million during the fourth quarter of 2015 versus a loss of $16.6 million
in the comparative three-month period of 2014. Foreign exchange gains and losses arise primarily from the translation of net 
monetary assets or liabilities that were held in U.S. dollars in Canada, Russia and Latin America. The Company’s fourth-quarter 
2015 foreign exchange loss was largely attributable to the translation of U.S. dollar-denominated liabilities held in Argentina 
as the value of the Argentinean peso depreciated 38 percent against the U.S. dollar during the fourth quarter. The foreign 
exchange loss was partially offset by U.S. dollar-denominated assets held in Canada as the U.S. dollar appreciated against the 
Canadian dollar during the fourth quarter.

PROVISION FOR SETTLEMENT OF LITIGATION
During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company recorded an additional US$1.5 million provision related to its U.S. litigation, 
as described in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements, to reflect its current best estimate of the projected net cost 
of the settlement. The total overall provision of US$5.5 million includes legal fees of approximately US$0.8 million. 

IMPAIRMENT
A substantial downward shift in the commodity price environment occurred in the fourth quarter of 2015, and since December 
crude oil and natural gas prices have continued to weaken. This decline has resulted in an impairment to the carrying value of 
some of the Company’s assets. 

The Company carried out a comprehensive review of its property, plant and equipment at the end of 2015 and identified items 
that were permanently idle or obsolete and, therefore, no longer able to generate cash inflows, which primarily related to 
Canada. In addition, the Company reviewed each of its cash generating units (CGU) for potential impairment. As a result of 
this review, impairment charges were made in the United States and Mexico. Total impairment charges were $114.5 million
for the quarter ended December 31, 2015 (2014 - $4.6 million). The impairment losses by CGU are as follows:
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For the quarter ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Canada 10,091 2,941

United States 102,528 401

Mexico 1,860 —

Colombia — 1,278

114,479 4,620

The Company also evaluated the net realizable value of its inventories at December 31, 2015 and recorded a $14.3 million
write-down (2014 - $nil).

INTEREST
The Company’s net interest expense of $18.3 million for the fourth quarter of 2015 was $2.8 million higher than in the 
comparable period of 2014. Interest expense on U.S. dollar-denominated debt was higher due to a weaker Canadian dollar 
relative to the U.S. dollar. The amount drawn on the Company’s revolving credit facility was $57.2 million higher at the end of 
the fourth quarter than at the end of the comparable quarter in 2014. 

INCOME TAXES
The Company recorded an income tax recovery of $72.0 million during the fourth quarter of 2015 compared to an expense of 
$17.5 million in the comparable period of 2014. The fourth quarter of 2015 results included an asset impairment of $114.5 
million, an inventory write-down of $14.3 million and the write-off of deferred tax assets in Colombia of $2.1 million. Excluding 
these one-time items the income tax recovery would have been $26.7 million leading to an effective tax rate of 30 percent, 
which is consistent with the normalized effective tax rate of 29 percent during the comparable period in 2014.

OUTLOOK
The North American oilfield services industry is set to face another challenging year in 2016. The price of crude oil remains 
volatile, averaging around US$30 per barrel since the beginning of the year and hitting a 12-year low in February. As a result, 
the Company’s customers have further scaled back capital spending plans for 2016, which marks the first time since the 
late-1980s that global exploration and production spending has decreased for two consecutive years. As such, Calfrac anticipates 
equipment utilization in North America will remain low for the majority of 2016, with the potential for a modest improvement 
towards the end of the year. Pricing continues to be a challenge with some competitors bidding at historically low levels in 
Canada and the United States. Calfrac’s international operations are expected to continue to generate positive operating 
margins, which will mitigate the anticipated weakness across North America.

Given the current low commodity price environment and lack of visibility, Calfrac continues to focus on aggressively managing 
its cost structure. Calfrac is encouraged with what has been achieved to date, including fixed-cost reductions of roughly 50 
percent and 60 percent from the fourth quarter of 2014 in Canada and the United States, respectively. As a result of the current 
market, the Company has reduced its headcount by approximately 40 percent in Canada and 60 percent in the United States 
since the end of 2014. Retaining key employees has always been a keen focus for Calfrac but unfortunately with the current 
downturn shaping up to be the worst in decades, the Company has had to make some difficult decisions in order to position 
itself to survive in this environment, and has been forced to let go of some of its longstanding employees. In early March 2016, 
Calfrac restructured its Canadian, United States and Corporate organizations further to align with expected activity levels. In 
total, approximately 500 employees were affected by this initiative and decreased the Company’s global headcount to 2,600.

In working with the Company’s key suppliers, the logistics group has reduced costs for key products including having realized 
reductions of approximately 30 percent for proppant, 22 percent for third party subcontractors and 11 percent for chemical 
costs in Canada compared to the beginning of 2015. The strength in the U.S. dollar has and will continue to negatively impact 
product costs with the majority of the Company’s sand and chemicals sourced from the United States. In the United States, 
proppant costs including third party hauling have been reduced on average by approximately 40 percent while chemical costs 
are down 25 percent from January 2015 on a U.S. dollar basis. Calfrac continues to analyze all measures that it can employ to 
further lower its cost structure including process efficiencies and further cost mitigation strategies.

CANADA
Activity levels in the first quarter of 2016 started off slowly with limited activity throughout January as customers continued 
to adjust their spending plans and delay planned work. Given the mild winter weather witnessed across the Western Canadian 
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Sedimentary Basin, Calfrac anticipates an early break-up which combined with an overall lack of capital spending by customers 
is expected to result in very limited activity in March. Pricing has decreased a further 10 percent to 15 percent from the fourth 
quarter of 2015 with some competitors now bidding at below breakeven levels. Overall, the Company believes producer 
spending will be down substantially, with the year’s actual spending remaining dependent on commodity prices. Approximately 
45 percent of Calfrac’s Canadian fracturing equipment fleet remains idle and the Company will continue to prudently manage 
its future operating scale and cost structure in order to navigate through this challenging market.

In Canada, gas-focused activity now represents a larger portion of Calfrac’s work and the Company expects that trend to 
continue, offsetting some of the weakness in oil-focused activity with  drilling and completion activity in the Viking and Cardium 
plays likely to remain limited until crude oil prices exceed US$40-$45 per barrel. That said, gas-directed drilling is currently 
facing its own challenges with AECO trading at sub $2.00/Mcf.

UNITED STATES
In the United States, the land-based rig count is already averaging a further 20 percent reduction from the fourth quarter of 
2015 with no signs of a near-term reversal in the trend. A number of exploration and production companies have announced 
capital budgets that are lower by upwards of 50 percent year-over-year and Calfrac anticipates overall drilling and completion 
spending across the United States to be down meaningfully from 2015. Pricing remains at unsustainable levels but Calfrac 
believes it has largely found a bottom. Approximately 50 percent of the Company’s horsepower in the United States is currently 
idle and Calfrac will continue to reduce its operating scale to match near-term activity levels. 

RUSSIA
The Company expects activity in 2016 to be relatively consistent with 2015. However, the first quarter’s financial results are 
expected to be lower sequentially as a result of the continued devaluation of the rouble and activity delays with select customers. 
Calfrac has been successful in the 2016 tender process thus far, although negotiations are ongoing and anticipated to be 
concluded by the end of the first quarter. The Company has experienced growing interest from new customers which has 
allowed Calfrac to further diversify its revenues across a larger number of companies.

LATIN AMERICA
Overall, the Company expects activity levels in 2016 to be consistent with the prior year as new contracts in southern Argentina  
are expected to offset the slowdown that Calfrac is currently experiencing in the Neuquén area. Although Argentina’s internal 
price of oil will help maintain a certain level of activity, international oil companies have been cautious in dedicating new capital 
to the Vaca Muerta play pending an improvement in global oil prices. As a result, some shale oil projects have been delayed 
with activity transitioning to more gas-focused plays. On a positive note, Argentina’s recently elected new government has 
already implemented changes to the country’s previous policies that the Company believes are generating the basis for future 
foreign investment and will contribute to the continued development of Argentina’s conventional and unconventional oil and 
gas resources.

In Mexico, Calfrac expects activity in the longer term to increase as the national reform of the energy industry continues to 
proceed. As a result of the current low levels of activity and cautious approach to spending by PEMEX in the short to medium 
term, the Company has scaled back its operations in order to match costs with anticipated revenue.

DIVIDEND POLICY
Calfrac’s Board of Directors reviews the Company’s dividend policy on a quarterly basis. Due to the challenging market conditions 
in the oilfield services industry, the Board of Directors has suspended Calfrac’s dividend effective immediately until further 
notice. 

SUMMARY
Although Calfrac’s long-term strategy has not changed, in the short-to-medium term the Company remains focused on one 
thing: surviving through what is shaping up to be the worst industry downturn in decades. Key focal points include managing 
the Company’s cost structure, employing further process efficiencies, retaining as many of its best people as possible given 
expected activity levels, maintaining strong relationships with its existing customers as well as expanding its customer base, 
all while ensuring the Company has sufficient liquidity to navigate the cyclical downturn. The Company’s international operations 
continue to generate strong cash contributions and provide an avenue for growth. Calfrac believes that the pressure pumping 
services industry will remain an integral component of unconventional resource development over the long term and that the 
Company will be well-positioned given its focus on top-tier safety, service quality, logistics management and technology.
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NON-GAAP MEASURES
Certain supplementary measures presented in this MD&A do not have any standardized meaning under IFRS and, because IFRS 
have been incorporated as Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), these supplementary measures are also 
non-GAAP measures. These measures have been described and presented in order to provide shareholders and potential 
investors with additional information regarding the Company’s financial results, liquidity and ability to generate funds to finance 
its operations. These measures may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities, and are explained 
below.

Operating income (loss) is defined as net income (loss) before depreciation, foreign exchange gains or losses, gains or losses 
on disposal of property, plant and equipment, expenses and gain related to business combinations, impairment of property, 
plant and equipment, impairment of inventory, impairment of goodwill, interest, and income taxes. Management believes that 
operating income is a useful supplemental measure as it provides an indication of the financial results generated by Calfrac’s 
business segments prior to consideration of how these segments are financed or taxed. Operating income for the period was 
calculated as follows:

Three Months Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,

2015 2014 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($)
(unaudited)

Net (loss) income (145,636) 26,280 (227,426) 67,502

Add back (deduct):

Depreciation 40,254 35,997 156,638 139,395

Foreign exchange losses 33,540 16,582 37,025 30,167

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (643) 96 (2,257) 1,577

Business combination — — (30,987) —

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 114,479 4,620 114,479 4,620

Impairment of inventory 14,333 — 14,333 —

Impairment of goodwill — 979 9,544 979

Provision for settlement of litigation 3,165 4,640 3,165 4,640

Interest 18,289 15,509 68,967 59,584

Income taxes (71,994) 17,499 (114,097) 48,746

Operating income 5,787 122,202 29,384 357,210
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Adjusted EBITDA is defined in the Company’s credit facilities for covenant purposes as net income or loss for the period less 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, non-cash stock-based compensation, non-controlling interest, and gains and 
losses that are extraordinary or non-recurring. Adjusted EBITDA is presented because it is used in the calculation of the 
Company’s bank covenants. Adjusted EBITDA for the period was calculated as follows:

Three Months Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,

2015 2014 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)
(unaudited)

Net (loss) income (145,636) 26,280 (227,426) 67,502

Add back (deduct):

Depreciation 40,254 35,997 156,638 139,395

Unrealized foreign exchange losses 37,777 6,726 42,592 17,660

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (643) 96 (2,257) 1,577

Business combination — — (30,987) —

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 114,479 4,620 114,479 4,620

Impairment of inventory 14,333 — 14,333 —

Impairment of goodwill — 979 9,544 979

Provision for settlement of litigation 3,165 4,640 3,165 4,640

Restructuring charges 11,868 7,907 13,533 7,907

Stock-based compensation 785 1,144 3,082 4,138

Losses attributable to non-controlling interest 256 334 491 547

Interest 18,289 15,509 68,967 59,584

Income taxes (71,994) 17,499 (114,097) 48,746

Adjusted EBITDA 22,933 121,731 52,057 357,295

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Payment Due by Period

As at December 31, 2015 Total < 1 Year 1 - 3 Years 4 - 5 Years After 5 Years

(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

(unaudited)

Operating and finance leases 43,906 19,419 22,016 2,471 —

Purchase obligations 421,821 122,184 295,371 4,266 —

Total contractual obligations 465,727 141,603 317,387 6,737 —

As outlined above, Calfrac has various contractual lease commitments related to vehicles, equipment and facilities as well as 
purchase obligations for products, services and property, plant and equipment.

GREEK LITIGATION
As described in note 23 to the annual consolidated financial statements, the Company and one of its Greek subsidiaries are 
involved in a number of legal proceedings in Greece. Management regularly evaluates the likelihood of potential liabilities 
being incurred and the amounts of such liabilities after careful examination of available information and discussions with its 
legal advisors. Management is of the view that it is improbable there will be a material financial impact to the Company as a 
result of these claims. Consequently, no provision was recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

U.S. LITIGATION
As described in note 23 to the annual consolidated financial statements, a collective and class action complaint was filed against 
the Company in September 2012 in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania, alleging failure to pay U.S. 
employees the amount of overtime pay required by the Fair Labor Standards Act and the Pennsylvania Minimum Wage Act. 
The Company and the plaintiffs have reached a tentative settlement of all claims, including certain potential, related claims. 
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The court granted final approval of the settlement on December 17, 2015. As part of the settlement, plaintiffs filed a second 
amended complaint to add Arkansas and North Dakota wage-hour claims. For settlement purposes only, the court conditionally 
certified classes for the FLSA claim and each of the four state law claims. The proposed settlement contemplates use of a claims 
procedure, pursuant to which each plaintiff and potential plaintiff would be required to file a claim to be entitled to receive 
money pursuant to the settlement. During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company recorded an additional US$1.5 million   
provision to reflect its current best estimate of the projected net cost of the settlement, for a total overall provision of US$5.5 
million, and also incurred legal fees of approximately US$0.8 million. The Company does not have insurance coverage for these 
claims.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
This MD&A is based on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 which were 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. Management is required to make assumptions, judgments and estimates in the application 
of IFRS. Calfrac’s significant accounting policies are described in note 2 to the annual consolidated financial statements.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires that certain estimates and judgments be made concerning 
the reported amount of revenue and expenses and the carrying values of assets and liabilities. These estimates are based on 
historical experience and management’s judgment. The estimation of anticipated future events involves uncertainty and, 
consequently, the estimates used by management in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements may change as 
future events unfold, additional experience is gained or the environment in which the Company operates changes. The 
accounting policies and practices requiring estimates that have a significant impact on the Company’s financial results include 
the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, depreciation, the fair value of financial instruments, the carrying value of 
goodwill, impairment of property, plant and equipment, income taxes, stock-based compensation expenses, functional currency 
and cash-generating units.

Judgment is also used in the determination of the functional currency of each subsidiary and in the determination of cash-
generating units.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and grants credit based on a review of historical collection 
experience, current aging status, financial condition of the customer and anticipated industry conditions. Customer payments 
are regularly monitored and a provision for doubtful accounts is established based on specific situations and overall industry 
conditions. In situations where the creditworthiness of a customer is uncertain, services are provided on receipt of cash in 
advance or services are declined. Calfrac’s management believes that the provision for doubtful accounts receivable, which 
was $2.9 million at December 31, 2015, is adequate.

DEPRECIATION
Depreciation of the Company’s property, plant and equipment incorporates estimates of useful lives and residual values. These 
estimates may change as more experience is obtained or as general market conditions change, thereby affecting the value of 
the Company’s property, plant and equipment. 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets are cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank loans, long-term debt and finance lease obligations.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The fair values of financial instruments included in the consolidated balance sheets, except long-term debt, approximate their 
carrying amounts due to the short-term maturity of those instruments. The fair value of the senior unsecured notes based on 
the closing market price at December 31, 2015 was $336.3 million before deduction of unamortized debt issuance costs 
(December 31, 2014 - $595.1 million). The carrying value of the senior unsecured notes at December 31, 2015 was $830.4 
million before deduction of unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discount (December 31, 2014 - $696.1 million). The fair 
values of the remaining long-term debt and finance lease obligations approximate their carrying values, as described in note 
8 to the annual consolidated financial statements.
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CREDIT RISK
Substantial amounts of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers in the oil and natural gas industry and are subject 
to normal industry credit risks. The Company mitigates this risk through its credit policies and practices, including the use of 
credit limits and approvals, and by monitoring its customers’ financial condition. At December 31, 2015, the Company had a 
provision for doubtful accounts receivable of $2.9 million (December 31, 2014 - $1.0 million).

Payment terms with customers vary by country and contract. Standard payment terms, however, are 30 days from invoice date. 
The Company’s aged trade and accrued accounts receivable at December 31, 2015 and 2014, excluding the provision for 
doubtful accounts, are as follows:

As at December 31, 2015 2014

(C$000s) ($) ($)

(unaudited)

Current 161,082 350,870

31 - 60 days 29,386 92,077

61 - 90 days 7,596 13,792

91+ days 13,974 31,737

Total 212,038 488,476

The Company’s accounts receivable aged greater than 90 days were primarily with customers  operating in Argentina for which 
no provision has been made. The payment delay is consistent with the experience of many other oilfield service companies in 
these markets. Although the timing is uncertain, collection is expected in its entirety.

INTEREST RATE RISK
The Company is exposed to cash flow risk due to fluctuating interest payments required to service any floating-rate debt. The 
increase or decrease in annual interest expense for each 1 percentage point change in the interest rate on floating-rate debt 
at December 31, 2015 amounts to $1.3 million (2014 - $0.7 million).

The Company’s effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2015 was 7.8 percent (December 31, 2014 - 7.9 percent).

LIQUIDITY RISK
The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are operating cash flows, existing or new credit facilities, new senior unsecured 
notes and new share equity. The Company monitors its liquidity to ensure it has sufficient funds to complete planned capital 
and other expenditures. The Company mitigates liquidity risk by maintaining adequate banking and credit facilities and 
monitoring its forecast and actual cash flows. The Company may also adjust its capital spending and dividends to maintain 
liquidity.

The expected timing of cash outflows relating to financial liabilities is outlined in the table below:

As at December 31, 2015 Total < 1 Year 1 - 3 Years 4 - 6 Years 7 - 9 Years Thereafter

(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

(unaudited)

Bank loan(1) 69,253 5,362 16,086 16,086 16,086 15,633

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 172,633 172,633 — — — —

Long-term debt(1) 1,208,693 68,134 310,158 830,401 — —

As at December 31, 2014 Total < 1 Year 1 - 3 Years 4 - 6 Years 7 - 9 Years Thereafter

(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

(unaudited)

Bank loan(1) 20,690 20,690 — — — —

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 356,933 356,933 — — — —

Long-term payable 4,060 — 4,060 — — —

Long-term debt(1) 1,016,356 65,419 202,671 748,266 — —
(1) Principal and interest
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk associated with foreign operations where assets, liabilities, revenue and costs 
are denominated in currencies other than Canadian dollars. These currencies include the U.S. dollar, Russian rouble, Mexican 
peso and Argentinean peso. The Company is also exposed to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations in its Canadian 
operations on purchases of products and property, plant and equipment from vendors in the United States. In addition, the 
Company’s senior unsecured notes and related interest expense are denominated in U.S. dollars. The amount of this debt and 
related interest expressed in Canadian dollars varies with fluctuations in the U.S. dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rate. This 
risk is mitigated, however, by the Company’s U.S. operations and accompanying revenue streams.

A change in the value of foreign currencies in the Company’s consolidated financial instruments (cash, accounts receivable, 
accounts payable and debt) would have had the following impact on net income and other comprehensive income:

At December 31, 2015
Impact to Net

Income

Impact to Other
Comprehensive

Income
(C$000s) ($) ($)

1% change in value of U.S. dollar 330 3,167

1% change in value of Russian rouble — 434

At December 31, 2014
Impact to Net

Income

Impact to Other
Comprehensive

Income
(C$000s) ($) ($)

1% change in value of U.S. dollar 216 2,654

1% change in value of Russian rouble — 471

GOODWILL
Goodwill represents an excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired and is not amortized. The Company 
assesses goodwill at least annually. Goodwill is allocated to each operating segment, which represents the lowest level within 
the Company at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. The fair value of each operating segment 
is compared to the carrying value of its net assets.

At September 30, 2015, the Company completed an assessment for goodwill impairment and determined that the recoverable 
amounts of its operating segments were less than their carrying amounts, and wrote-off all of the remaining goodwill of $9.5 
million (2014 - $1.0 million). 

IMPAIRMENT
Assessment of impairment is based on management’s judgment of whether there are internal and external factors that would 
indicate that an asset or CGU is impaired.

As described in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the impact of the continued decline in oil and natural gas prices 
on the Company’s current and future financial results combined with the oversupply of pressure pumping equipment in North 
America were indicators of impairment during the fourth quarter of 2015, and the Company estimated the recoverable amount 
of its property, plant and equipment.

A comparison of the recoverable amounts of each CGU with their respective carrying amounts resulted in an impairment charge 
with respect to property, plant and equipment of $114.5 million during the fourth quarter of 2015. The impairment losses by 
CGU are as follows:
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For the three months ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Canada 10,091 2,941

United States 102,528 401

Mexico 1,860 —

Colombia — 1,278

114,479 4,620

The Company also evaluated the net realizable value of its inventories at December 31, 2015 and recorded a $14.3 million
write-down (2014 - $nil). 

For the three months ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Canada 4,032 —

United States 10,301 —

14,333 —

INCOME TAXES
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
financial statement amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Estimates of the Company’s future 
taxable income are considered in assessing the utilization of available tax losses. The Company’s business is complex and the 
calculation of income taxes involves many complex factors as well as the Company’s interpretation of relevant tax legislation 
and regulations.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
The fair value of stock options is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which includes 
underlying assumptions related to the risk-free interest rate, average expected option life, estimated forfeitures, estimated 
volatility of the Company’s shares and anticipated dividends.

The fair value of the deferred share units, performance share units and restricted share units is recognized based on the market 
value of the Company’s shares underlying these compensation programs.

FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY
Management applies judgment in determining the functional currency of its foreign subsidiaries. Judgment is made with regard 
to the currency that influences and determines sales prices, labour, material and other costs as well as financing and receipts 
from operating income.

CASH-GENERATING UNITS
The determination of CGUs is based on management’s judgment regarding shared equipment, mobility of equipment, 
geographical proximity and materiality.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In November 2010, the Company lent a senior officer $2.5 million to purchase common shares of the Company on the TSX. 
The loan is on a non-recourse basis and is secured by the common shares acquired with the loan proceeds. The loan was 
amended in February 2015 to extend the term by five years to November 8, 2020 and change the interest rate to the prescribed 
rate under the Income Tax Act (Canada), which rate was 1.00 percent per annum at the time of the amendment. The market 
value of the shares that secure the loan was approximately $0.4 million as at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014 – $1.7 
million). In accordance with applicable accounting standards regarding share purchase loans receivable, this loan is classified 
as a reduction of shareholders’ equity due to its non-recourse nature. In addition, the shares purchased with the loan proceeds 
are considered to be, in substance, stock options. 

The Company leases certain premises from an entity controlled by one of its directors. The rent charged for these premises 
during the year ended December 31, 2015 was $1.1 million (year ended December 31, 2014 – $0.8 million), as measured at 
the exchange amount.
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As disclosed in note 9 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company issued common shares under a private placement. 
Of the total gross proceeds of $27.5 million, $5.9 million was purchased by directors or entities controlled by directors of the 
Company.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
No new IFRS or interpretations from the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee came into effect for the 
year beginning on or after January 1, 2015 that had a material impact on the Company.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Unless otherwise noted, the following revised standards and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2015 with earlier application permitted. The Company does not expect these standards to have a significant 
effect on its consolidated financial statements:

In January 2016, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued IFRS 16 Leases, which requires lessees to recognize 
all leases on the balance sheet. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with earlier 
application permitted for companies that also apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which replaces IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts, and related interpretations. The standard is required to be adopted either retrospectively or using a modified 
transition approach for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with earlier adoption permitted. IFRS 15 will come 
into effect for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.

The IASB completed the final elements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The Standard supersedes earlier versions of IFRS 9 and 
completes the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9, as amended, 
includes a principle-based approach for classification and measurement of financial assets, a single ‘expected loss’ impairment 
model and a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. IFRS 9 will come into effect for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the standard 
on its financial statements.

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The President and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of Calfrac are responsible for establishing 
and maintaining the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (DC&P) and internal control over financial reporting (ICFR).

DC&P are designed to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Company is made known to the 
CEO and CFO by others, particularly in the period in which the annual filings are being prepared, and that information required 
to be disclosed in documents filed with securities regulatory authorities is recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within the periods specified in securities legislation, and includes controls and procedures designed to ensure that such 
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate, 
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. ICFR is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.

In accordance with the requirements of National Instrument 52-109 “Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim 
Filings,” an evaluation of the effectiveness of DC&P and ICFR was carried out under the supervision of the CEO and CFO at 
December 31, 2015. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that, subject to the inherent limitations noted 
below, the Company’s DC&P and ICFR are effectively designed and operating as intended.

The Company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that the Company’s DC&P and ICFR will prevent or 
detect all misstatements or instances of fraud. The inherent limitations in all control systems are such that they can provide 
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that all control issues, misstatements or instances of fraud within the Company have 
been detected.

No change to the Company’s ICFR occurring during the most recent interim period materially affected, or is reasonably likely 
to materially affect, the Company’s ICFR. 
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BUSINESS RISKS
The business of Calfrac is subject to certain risks and uncertainties. Prior to making any investment decision regarding Calfrac, 
investors should carefully consider, among other things, the risk factors set forth below as well as in the Company’s most 
recently filed Annual Information Form, which is available at www.sedar.com. 

VOLATILITY OF INDUSTRY CONDITIONS
The demand, pricing and terms for the Company’s services largely depend upon the level of expenditures made by oil and gas 
companies on exploration, development and production activities in North America, Russia and Latin America. Expenditures 
by oil and gas companies are typically directly related to the demand for, and price of, oil and gas. Generally, when commodity 
prices and demand are predicted to be, or are relatively high, demand for the Company’s services is high. The converse is also 
true.

The prices for oil and natural gas are subject to a variety of factors including: the demand for energy; the ability of the 
Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) to set and maintain production levels for oil; oil and gas production 
by non-OPEC countries; the decline rates for current production; political and economic uncertainty and socio-political unrest; 
cost of exporting, producing and delivering oil and gas; technological advances affecting energy consumption; and weather 
conditions. Any prolonged reduction in oil and natural gas prices would likely decrease the level of activity and expenditures 
in oil and gas exploration, development and production activities and, in turn, decrease the demand for the Company’s services.

In addition to current and expected future oil and gas prices, the level of expenditures made by oil and gas companies are 
influenced by numerous factors over which the Company has no control, including but not limited to: general economic 
conditions; the cost of exploring for, producing and delivering oil and gas; the expected rates of current production; the discovery 
rates of new oil and gas reserves; cost and availability of drilling equipment; availability of pipeline and other oil and gas 
transportation capacity; natural gas storage levels; political, regulatory and economic conditions; taxation and royalty changes; 
government regulation; environmental regulation; ability of oil and gas companies to obtain credit, equity capital or debt 
financing; and currency fluctuations. A material decline in global oil and natural gas prices or North American, Russian and 
Latin American activity levels as a result of any of the above factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

EQUIPMENT LEVELS
Because of the long-life nature of oilfield service equipment and the lag between when a decision to build additional equipment 
is made and when the equipment is placed into service, the quantity of oilfield service equipment in the industry does not 
always correlate with the level of demand for service equipment. Periods of high demand often spur increased capital 
expenditures on equipment, and those capital expenditures may add capacity that exceeds actual demand. Such capital 
overbuild could cause the Company’s competitors to lower their pricing and could lead to a decrease in rates in the oilfield 
services industry generally, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results 
of operations and cash flows. 

COMPETITION
Each of the markets in which the Company participates is highly competitive. To be successful, a service provider must provide 
services that meet the specific needs of oil and natural gas exploration and production companies at competitive prices. The 
principal competitive factors in the markets in which the Company operates are product and service quality and availability, 
technical knowledge and experience, reputation for safety and price. The Company competes with large national and multi-
national oilfield service companies that have extensive financial and other resources. These companies offer a wide range of 
well stimulation services in all geographic regions in which the Company operates. In addition, the Company competes with 
several regional competitors. As a result of competition, the Company may suffer from a significant reduction in revenue or 
be unable to pursue additional business opportunities.

ACCESS TO CAPITAL
The Company is required to comply with covenants under its credit facilities and the indenture pursuant to which its senior 
notes were issued, including covenants relating to financial ratios and capital asset values which affect the availability and/or 
price of funding. In the event that the Company does not comply with such covenants, the Company’s access to capital could 
be restricted or repayment could be required. Such non-compliance could result from an impairment charge to the Company’s 
capital assets, which is determined based on management’s estimates and assumptions when certain internal and external 
factors indicate the need for the Company to assess its capital assets balance for impairment. If realized, these risks could have 
a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Even if the Company is able to obtain new financing, it may not be on commercially reasonable terms or terms that are acceptable 
to the Company. If the Company is unable to repay amounts owing under its credit facilities or the indenture, the lenders could 
proceed to foreclose or otherwise realize upon any collateral granted to them to secure the indebtedness. The acceleration of 
the Company’s indebtedness under one agreement may permit acceleration of indebtedness under other agreements that 
contain cross-default or cross-acceleration provisions. In addition, operating and financial restrictions exist under the credit 
facilities and the indenture, which include restrictions on the payment of dividends, repurchase or making of other distributions 
with respect to the Company’s securities, incurrence of additional indebtedness, provision of guarantees, making of capital 
expenditures and entering into of certain transactions, among others.

VOLATILITY IN CREDIT MARKETS
The ability to make scheduled debt repayments, refinance debt obligations and access financing depends on the Company’s 
financial condition and operating performance, which is subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to 
certain finance, business and other factors beyond its control. In addition, the Company’s ability to refinance debt obligations 
and access financing is affected by credit ratings assigned to the Company and its debt. Continuing volatility in the credit markets 
could increase costs associated with debt instruments due to increased spreads over relevant interest rate benchmarks, or 
affect the ability of the Company, or third parties it seeks to do business with, to access those markets. 

In addition, access to further financing for the Company or its customers remains uncertain. This condition could have an 
adverse effect on the industry in which the Company operates and its business, including future operating results. The Company’s 
customers may curtail their drilling and completion programs, which could decrease demand for the Company’s services and 
could increase downward pricing pressures. Further, certain customers could become unable to pay suppliers, including the 
Company, in the event they are unable to access the capital markets to fund their business operations. Such risks, if realized, 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

CAPITAL-INTENSIVE INDUSTRY
The Company’s business plan is subject to the availability of additional financing for future costs of operations or expansion 
that might not be available, or may not be available on favourable terms. The Company’s activities are financed partially or 
wholly with debt, which could under certain circumstances increase its debt levels above industry standards. The level of the 
Company’s indebtedness from time to time could impair its ability to obtain additional financing in the future on a timely basis 
to take advantage of business opportunities that may arise. If the Company’s cash flow from operations is not sufficient to fund 
its capital expenditure requirements, there can be no assurance that additional debt or equity financing will be available to 
meet these requirements or, if available, on acceptable terms. In addition, if the Company’s financial performance results in a 
breach of an existing or future financial covenant, access to financing could be restricted and/or all or a portion of the Company’s 
debt could become due on demand. Such risks, if realized, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

FLUCTUATIONS IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are reported in Canadian dollars. Accordingly, the results of the Company’s 
foreign operations are directly affected by fluctuations in the exchange rates for United States, Russian, Argentinean and 
Mexican currencies. For example, financial results from the Company’s United States operations are denominated in United 
States dollars, so a decrease in the value of the United States dollar would decrease the Canadian dollar amount of such financial 
results from United States operations. In addition, the majority of the Company’s debt is denominated in United States dollars, 
so a decline in the value of the Canadian dollar would increase the amount of reported debt in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements. Other than natural hedges arising from the normal course of business in foreign jurisdictions, the Company 
does not have any hedging positions.

FOREIGN OPERATIONS
Some of the Company’s operations and related assets are located in countries outside of Canada and the United States, some 
of which may be considered politically or economically unstable. Activities in such countries may require protracted negotiations 
with host governments, national oil and gas companies and third parties and are frequently subject to economic and political 
considerations, such as taxation, nationalization, expropriation, inflation, currency fluctuations, increased regulation and 
approval requirements, restrictions on the repatriation of income or capital, governmental regulation and the risk of actions 
by terrorist, criminal or insurgent groups, any of which could adversely affect the economics of exploration or development 
projects and the demand for the Company’s well stimulation services which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on 
its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
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Additionally, operations outside of Canada could also expose the Company to trade and economic sanctions or other restrictions 
imposed by the Canadian government or other governments or organizations, such as the sanctions issued by the Canadian 
and U.S. governments against Russia. Although management has implemented internal controls, procedures and policies that 
it believes to be adequate and customary in the industry and the countries where the Company operates, federal agencies and 
authorities may seek to impose a broad range of criminal or civil penalties against the Company or its representatives for 
violations of securities laws, foreign corrupt practices laws or other federal statutes, any of which could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

FEDERAL, STATE AND PROVINCIAL LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY INITIATIVES 
The Canadian federal government, the United States Congress, the United States Environmental Protection Agency and other 
regulatory agencies in the United States continue to conduct investigations regarding the use and lifecycle of stimulation water 
and chemicals in the hydraulic fracturing process and the potential impacts on human health and the environment. In addition, 
petitions and bills that assert that the fracturing process could adversely affect surface and/or ground water supplies, air quality 
and seismic events have been introduced in Congress and state legislatures. The proposed statutes have historically aimed to 
repeal the exemption for hydraulic fracturing under the Safe Drinking Water Act or enact moratoriums and/or bans on the use 
of hydraulic fracturing in the hydrocarbon extraction process. The United States Bureau of Land Management released a rule 
in 2015 that sought to regulate chemical information disclosure, proprietary protections, wellbore integrity, water usage and 
fluid recovery, among other aspects of hydraulic fracturing, on public and Native American lands in the United States. Industry 
trade associations, as well as multiple states and Native American tribes, sued the Bureau of Land Management over this rule 
and a preliminary injunction has been granted by a district court pending the outcome of such litigation. These or similar bills 
or rules, if enacted, could result in additional permitting requirements and other restrictions for hydraulic fracturing operations, 
which will likely result in delays in operations at well sites and increased costs to the Company and/or its customers. Moreover, 
these bills or rules have required and will continue to require additional reporting and public disclosure of chemicals used in 
the fracturing process to federal or state regulatory authorities, making such competitive information publicly available if 
appropriate safeguards are not in place to protect confidential business information. Such disclosure could also increase public 
concerns regarding perceived risk to drinking water wells, livestock or other resources in the vicinity of an oil or natural gas 
well or perceived risk of other environmental impacts. 

In addition, most provincial, state and local governments with jurisdiction over oil and gas development have undertaken similar 
investigations and have implemented various conditions, rules, regulations and restrictions on hydraulic fracturing operations 
rather than waiting for federal implementation. Legislative and regulatory requirements currently in place or scheduled to 
become effective in certain provinces and/or states in 2016 include requirements regarding local government consultation, 
wellhead and pad setbacks, public and landowner notification and involvement, withdrawal of water for use in hydraulic 
fracturing of horizontal wells, baseline testing of nearby water wells, restrictions on which additives may be used, reporting 
with respect to spills, mandatory visual and noise mitigation measures as well as temporary or permanent bans on hydraulic 
fracturing. These types of conditions could subject the Company to increased costs, delays, limits on the productivity of certain 
wells and, possibly, limits on its ability to deploy its technology. The adoption of any future federal, provincial, state or local 
laws or implementing regulations in any of the jurisdictions in which the Company operates which impose additional permitting, 
disclosure or regulatory obligations related to, or otherwise limiting, the hydraulic fracturing process could make it more difficult 
to complete oil and natural gas wells and could affect the Company’s ability to utilize proprietary technological developments 
to compete effectively in the pressure pumping industry. Such results could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

The operations of the Company’s customers are also subject to or impacted by a wide array of regulations in the jurisdictions 
in which they operate. As a result of changes in regulations and laws relating to the oil and natural gas industry, customers’ 
operations could be disrupted or curtailed by governmental authorities. The cost of compliance with applicable regulations 
may cause customers to discontinue or limit their operations and may discourage companies from continuing development 
activities. As a result, demand for the Company’s services could be substantially affected by regulations adversely impacting 
the oil and natural gas industry. 

Changes in environmental requirements may reduce demand for the Company’s services. For example, oil and natural gas 
exploration and production could become less cost-effective and decline as a result of increasingly stringent environmental 
requirements (including land use policies responsive to environmental concerns and delays or difficulties in obtaining 
environmental permits). A decline in exploration and production, in turn, could materially and adversely affect the Company’s 
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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ENVIRONMENT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Company is subject to increasingly stringent and complex federal, provincial, state and local laws and regulations relating 
to the importation, release, transport, handling, storage, disposal and use of, and exposure to, hazardous and radioactive 
materials, and the protection of workers and the environment, including laws and regulations governing occupational safety 
standards, air emissions, chemical usage, water discharges and waste management. The Company incurs, and expects to 
continue to incur, significant capital, managerial and operating costs to comply with such health, safety and environmental 
laws and regulations. Violation of these laws and regulations could lead to loss of accreditation, damage to the Company’s 
social license to operate, loss of access to markets and substantial fines and penalties which could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

The Company uses and generates hazardous substances and wastes in its operations. Because the Company provides services 
to companies producing oil and natural gas, it may also become subject to claims relating to the release of such substances 
into the environment. In addition, some of the Company’s current properties are, or have been, used for industrial purposes. 
Some environmental laws and regulations provide for joint and several strict liability related to spills and releases of hazardous 
substances for damages to the environment and natural resources or threats to public health and safety. Strict liability can 
render a potentially responsible party liable for damages irrespective of negligence or fault. Accordingly, the Company could 
become subject to potentially material liabilities relating to the investigation and cleanup of contaminated properties, and to 
claims alleging personal injury or property damage as the result of exposures to, or releases of, hazardous substances. In 
addition, stricter enforcement of existing laws and regulations, new laws and regulations, the discovery of previously unknown 
contamination or the imposition of new or increased requirements could require the Company to incur costs or become the 
basis of new or increased liabilities that could reduce its earnings and cash available for operations.

CONCENTRATION OF CUSTOMER BASE
The Company’s customer base consists of approximately 170 oil and natural gas exploration and production companies, ranging 
from large multi-national public companies to small private companies. Notwithstanding the Company’s broad customer base, 
it has ten significant customers that collectively accounted for approximately 61 percent of its revenue for the year ended 
December 31, 2015 and, of such customers, five accounted for approximately 41 percent of the Company’s revenue for the 
year ended December 31, 2015. There can be no assurance that the Company’s relationship with these customers will continue, 
and a significant reduction or total loss of the business from these customers, if not offset by sales to new or existing customers, 
would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

OPERATIONAL RISKS
The Company’s operations are subject to hazards inherent in the oil and natural gas industry, such as equipment defects, 
malfunction and failures, and natural disasters which result in fires, vehicle accidents, explosions and uncontrollable flows of 
natural gas or well fluids that can cause personal injury, loss of life, suspension of operations, damage to formations, damage 
to facilities, business interruption and damage to or destruction of property, equipment and the environment. These hazards 
could expose the Company to substantial liability for personal injury, wrongful death, property damage, loss of oil and natural 
gas production, pollution, contamination of drinking water and other environmental damages. The Company continuously 
monitors its activities for quality control and safety, and although the Company maintains insurance coverage that it believes 
to be adequate and customary in the industry, such insurance may not be adequate to cover potential liabilities and may not 
be available in the future at rates that the Company considers reasonable and commercially justifiable. 

SEASONALITY
The Company’s financial results are directly affected by the seasonal nature of the North American oil and natural gas industry, 
particularly in portions of western Canada and North Dakota. The first quarter incorporates the winter drilling season when a 
disproportionate amount of the activity takes place in western Canada and North Dakota. During the second quarter, soft 
ground conditions typically curtail oilfield activity in all of the Company’s Canadian operating areas and its operating areas in 
North Dakota such that many rigs are unable to be moved due to road weight restrictions. This period, commonly referred to 
as “spring break-up”, occurs earlier in the year in North Dakota and southeast Alberta than it does in northern Alberta and 
northeast British Columbia. Consequently, this is the Company’s weakest three-month revenue period. Additionally, if an 
unseasonably warm winter prevents sufficient freezing, the Company might not be able to access well sites and its operating 
results and financial condition could therefore be adversely affected. The demand for fracturing and well stimulation services 
may also be affected by severe winter weather in North America and Russia. In addition, during excessively rainy periods in 
any of the Company’s operating areas, equipment moves may be delayed, thereby adversely affecting revenue. The volatility 
in the weather adds a further element of unpredictability to activity and utilization rates, which can have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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LIABILITIES OF PRIOR OPERATIONS
From time to time, there may be legal proceedings underway, pending or threatened against the Company relating to the 
business of Denison prior to its reorganization and subsequent acquisition of the Company. In March 2004, the Canadian 
petroleum and natural gas assets and the mining leases, mining environmental services and related assets and liabilities of 
Denison were transferred to two new Companies that provided indemnities to Denison for all claims or losses relating to 
Denison’s prior business, except for matters related to specific liabilities retained by Denison. Despite these indemnities, it is 
possible that the Company could be found responsible for claims or losses relating to the assets and liabilities transferred by 
Denison and that claims or losses may not be within the scope of either of the indemnities or may not be recoverable by the 
Company. Because of the nature of Denison’s former operations (oil and natural gas exploration and production, mining and 
environmental services), these claims and losses could include substantial environmental claims. The Company cannot predict 
the outcome or ultimate impact of any legal or regulatory proceedings pending against Denison or affecting the Company’s 
business or any legal or regulatory proceedings that may relate to Denison’s prior ownership or operation of assets. 

See the heading “Greek Litigation” for particulars of the legal actions in Greece relating to the operations of Denison. The 
direction and financial consequence of the potential decisions in these actions cannot be determined at this time. If these 
actions were to be determined in a manner adverse to the Company or if the Company elects to settle one or more of such 
claims, it could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time, the Company is involved in legal proceedings which are usually related to normal operational or labor issues, 
such as the class and collective action discussed under the heading “U.S. Litigation.” The results of such legal proceedings or 
related matters cannot be determined with certainty. The Company’s assessment of the likely outcome of such matters is based 
on advice from external legal advisors, which is based on their judgment of a number of factors including the applicable legal 
framework and precedents, relevant financial and operational information and other evidence and facts specific to the matter 
as known at the time of the assessment. If these claims, or any claims which the Company may be subject to in the future, 
were to be determined in a manner adverse to the Company or if the Company elects to settle one or more of such claims, it 
could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

SAFETY STANDARDS
Standards for the prevention of incidents in the oil and gas industry are governed by service company safety policies and 
procedures, accepted industry safety practices, customer specific safety requirements and health and safety legislation. In 
order to ensure compliance, the Company has developed and implemented safety and training programs, which it believes 
meet or exceed the applicable standards. A key factor considered by customers in retaining oilfield service providers is safety. 
Deterioration of the Company’s safety performance could result in a decline in the demand for the Company’s services and 
could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

MANAGEMENT STEWARDSHIP
The successful operation of the Company’s business depends upon the abilities, expertise, judgment, discretion, integrity and 
good faith of its executive officers and key employees. If the Company lost the services of one or more of its executive officers 
or key employees, it could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows.

BENEFITS OF ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS
The Company considers acquisitions and dispositions of businesses and assets in the ordinary course of business. Any acquisition 
that the Company completes could have unforeseen and potentially material adverse effects on the Company’s financial position 
and operating results. Some of the risks involved with acquisitions include: unanticipated costs and liabilities; difficulty 
integrating the operations and assets of the acquired business; inability to properly access and maintain an effective internal 
control environment over an acquired company; potential loss of key employees and customers of the acquired company; and 
increased expenses and working capital requirements. 

The Company may incur substantial indebtedness to finance acquisitions and may also issue equity securities in connection 
with any such acquisitions. Debt service requirements could represent a significant burden on the Company’s results of 
operations and financial condition and the issuance of additional equity could be dilutive to the Company’s shareholders. 

Achieving the benefits of acquisitions depends in part on successfully consolidating functions and integrating operations and 
procedures in a timely and efficient manner as well as the Company’s ability to realize the anticipated growth opportunities 
and synergies from combining the acquired businesses and operations with those of the Company. The integration of an 
acquired business may require substantial management effort, time and resources and may divert management’s focus from 
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other strategic opportunities and operational matters. The inability of the Company to realize the anticipated benefits of 
acquisitions and dispositions could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows.

NEW TECHNOLOGIES AND CUSTOMER EXPECTATIONS
The ability of the Company to meet its customers’ performance and cost expectations will depend upon continuous 
improvements in operating equipment and proprietary fluid chemistries. There can be no assurance that the Company will be 
successful in its efforts in this regard or that it will have the resources available to meet this continuing demand. Failure by the 
Company to do so could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows.

CLIMATE CHANGE INITIATIVES
Canada is a signatory to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (the “UNFCCC”) and previously ratified 
the Kyoto Protocol established thereunder, which set legally binding targets to reduce nationwide emissions of carbon dioxide, 
methane, nitrous oxide, and other greenhouse gases (“GHG”). The first commitment period under the Kyoto Protocol was the 
five year period from 2008-2012. In December 2011, the Canadian federal government officially withdrew from the Kyoto 
Protocol, citing the Protocol’s high costs to meet obligations, lack of effectiveness in meeting the challenges of global climate 
change, and the absence of ratification by the United States as reasons for withdrawal.

In December 2009, UNFCCC representatives met in Copenhagen, Denmark, where they reached a deal termed the Copenhagen 
Accord, a successor to the Kyoto Protocol. The Copenhagen Accord represents a broad political consensus and reinforces 
commitments to reducing GHG emissions but is not a binding international treaty. Although Canada had committed under the 
Copenhagen Accord to reduce its GHG emissions by 17 percent from 2005 levels by 2020, the target is not legally binding. 

In December 2011, the UNFCCC established the Ad Hoc Working Group on the Durban Platform for Enhanced Action (the 
“Durban Platform”). The goal of the Durban Platform is to “develop a protocol, another legal instrument or an agreed outcome 
with legal force” through negotiations among UNFCCC countries to accelerate the reduction of GHG. 

The main objective of every Conference of Parties is to review the UNFCCC’s implementation. In December 2015, UNFCCC 
members met in Paris, France where Canada, along with 195 other countries, signed a new climate agreement (the “Paris 
Agreement”). Under the Paris Agreement, Canada is legally bound to report and monitor its GHG emissions, though details of 
how this will take place have yet to be determined. Signatory countries agreed to meet every five years to review their individual 
progress on GHG emissions reductions and consider amendments to their targets. Generally, the Paris Agreement includes the 
goal of “holding the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and pursuing 
efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C” overall, though individual country targets designed to meet these levels are 
not legally binding. Additionally, the Paris Agreement contemplates that by 2020, the parties will develop a new market-based 
mechanism related to carbon trading. It is expected that this mechanism will largely be based on the best practices and lessons 
learned from the Kyoto Protocol’s Clean Development Mechanism and Joint Implementation Regimes. On December 12, 2015, 
the Canadian federal government stated that it will develop and announce its Canada-wide approach to implementing the 
Paris Agreement within 90 days.

On May 15, 2015, Environment Minister Leona Aglukkaq (as she then was) announced the former Canadian federal 
government’s plans to reduce GHG emissions by 30 percent below Canada’s 2005 levels by 2030 (referred to as the Nationally 
Determined Contribution). Canada’s previous GHG emission reduction target under the Copenhagen Accord was to reduce 
GHG emissions to 17 percent below 2005 levels by 2020. Canada formally submitted the Nationally Determined Contribution 
to the UNFCCC. In December 2014, the former Canadian federal government published Canada’s Action of Climate Change 
declaring its intention to take action on climate change by reducing GHG emissions through a sector-by-sector regulatory 
approach to protect the environment and support economic prosperity. To date, Canada has implemented GHG reducing 
regulations for renewable fuels, transportation, and coal-fired electricity; however, given the recent change in federal 
government, the status of any unimplemented initiatives proposed by the former government is unclear.

In 2009, the Canadian federal government announced its commitment to work with the provincial governments to implement 
a North America-wide cap-and-trade system for GHG emissions, in cooperation with the United States, under which Canada 
would have its own cap-and-trade market for Canadian-specific industrial sectors that could be integrated into a North American 
market for carbon permits. The Government of Canada has yet to disclose whether or not it intends to pursue the cap-and-
trade plan. On October 18, 2015, delegates of the Canadian Chamber of Commerce adopted a resolution aimed at reducing 
GHG emissions by pressuring the Federal Government to work with the provinces to adopt a national carbon tax or cap-and-
trade system but to date, no further action has been taken other than as outlined above.
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In November 2015, the Alberta government released the Climate Change Advisory Panel’s Climate Leadership Report to the 
Minister (the “Report”) and the Climate Leadership Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan highlights four key strategies to address climate 
change: (1) the complete phase out of coal-fired sources of electricity by 2030, with cleaner, renewable energy sources in coal’s 
place; (2) replacing the current emissions intensity carbon pricing program with an emissions performance standard; (3) capping 
oil sands emissions to a province-wide total 100 megatonnes per year and adding a carbon price for oil sands facilities; and (4) 
reducing methane emissions by 45 percent by 2025.

The Alberta government is still developing the details of how the Plan will be implemented, but the Report claims carbon pricing 
will be central to the new strategy. The Report proposes a Carbon Competitiveness Regulation which would include elements 
of cap-and-trade and carbon tax regimes with distinctions between large industrial emissions (facilities emitting greater than 
100,000 tonnes of GHG annually) and end-use emissions (those from transportation and heating fuels). The Report also states 
that the 100 megatonne limit on oil sands facilities will be subject to exceptions for cogeneration and new upgrading capacity.

Future federal legislation, including potential international or bilateral requirements enacted under Canadian law, together 
with provincial emission reduction requirements, such as those in effect under Alberta’s Climate Change and Emissions 
Management Act and potential further provincial requirements, may require the reduction of emissions or emissions intensity 
from the Company’s operations and facilities. Mandatory emissions reduction requirements may result in increased operating 
costs and capital expenditures for oil and natural gas producers, thereby decreasing the demand for the Company’s services. 
The mandatory emissions reductions and the new industry emissions cap in Alberta may also impair the Company’s ability to 
provide its services economically. The Company is unable to predict the impact of current and pending emissions reduction 
legislation on the Company and it is possible that such impact would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
The success and ability of the Company to compete depends on the proprietary technology of the Company, proprietary 
technology of third parties that has been, or is required to be, licensed by the Company and the ability of the Company and 
such third parties to prevent others from copying such proprietary technology. The Company currently relies on intellectual 
property rights and other contractual or proprietary rights, including (without limitation) copyright, trademark laws, trade 
secrets, confidentiality procedures, contractual provisions, licences and patents to protect its proprietary technology. The 
Company also relies on third parties from whom licences have been received to protect their proprietary technology. The 
Company may have to engage in litigation in order to protect its patents or other intellectual property rights, or to determine 
the validity or scope of the proprietary rights of others. This kind of litigation can be time-consuming and expensive, regardless 
of whether the Company is successful. The process of seeking patent protection can itself be long and expensive, and there 
can be no assurance that any patent applications of the Company or such third parties will actually result in issued patents, or 
that, even if patents are issued, they will be of sufficient scope or strength to provide meaningful protection or any commercial 
advantage to the Company. Furthermore, others may develop technology that is similar or superior to the technology of the 
Company or such third parties or design technology in such a way as to bypass the patents owned by the Company and/or 
such third parties. 

Despite the efforts of the Company or such third parties, the intellectual property rights, particularly existing or future patents, 
of the Company or such third parties may be invalidated, circumvented, challenged, infringed or required to be licensed to 
others. It cannot be assured that any steps the Company or such third parties may take to protect their intellectual property 
rights and other rights to such proprietary technology that is central to the Company’s operations will prevent misappropriation 
or infringement or the termination of licenses from third parties.

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
The Company’s efforts to protect its confidential information, as well as the confidential information of its customers, may be 
unsuccessful due to the actions of third parties, software bugs or other technical malfunctions, employee error or malfeasance, 
lost or damaged data as a result of a natural disaster, data breach, intentional harm done to software by hackers or other 
factors. If any of these events occur, this information could be accessed or disclosed improperly. Any incidents involving 
unauthorized access to confidential information could damage the Company’s reputation and diminish its competitive position. 
In addition, the affected customers could initiate legal or regulatory action against the Company in connection with such 
incidents, which could cause the Company to incur significant expense. Any of these events could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
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DEMAND FOR OIL AND NATURAL GAS
Fuel conservation measures, alternative fuel requirements, increasing consumer demand for alternatives to oil and natural 
gas, and technological advances in fuel economy and energy generation devices could reduce the demand for crude oil and 
other hydrocarbons. The Company cannot predict the impact of changing demand for oil and natural gas products, and any 
major changes could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

SOURCES, PRICING AND AVAILABILITY OF RAW MATERIALS, COMPONENTS AND PARTS
The Company sources its raw materials, such as proppant, chemicals, nitrogen, carbon dioxide and diesel fuel, and its 
components and parts, such as coiled tubing, from a variety of suppliers in North America, Russia and Argentina. Should the 
Company’s current suppliers be unable to provide the necessary raw materials and components at a price acceptable to the 
Company or otherwise fail to deliver products in the quantities required, any resulting cost increases or delays in the provision 
of services could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

DIVIDENDS
The Company’s dividend policy is at the discretion of the board of directors and is subject to change. The Company’s ability to 
pay dividends depends on its operations and business. The amount of any dividends will depend on a variety of factors, including 
(without limitation) the Company’s profitability, historical and future business trends, the expected sustainability of those 
trends, enacted tax legislation which affects future taxes payable, cash required for debt repayments, restrictions on the 
Company’s ability to pay dividends under its credit facilities or under the indenture pursuant to which its senior notes were 
issued, the amount of capital expenditure required to sustain performance, the amount of capital expenditure required to fund 
the Company’s growth, the effect of acquisitions or dispositions on the Company’s business and cash requirements and other 
factors that may be beyond the Company’s control or not anticipated by management.

EMPLOYEES
The Company may not be able to find enough skilled labour to meet its needs, and this could limit growth. The Company may 
also have difficulty finding enough skilled and unskilled labour in the future if demand for its services increases. Shortages of 
qualified personnel have occurred in the past during periods of high demand. The demand for qualified oilfield services 
personnel generally increases with stronger demand for oilfield services and as new HP is brought into service. Increased 
demand typically leads to higher wages that may or may not be reflected in any increases in service rates.

Other factors can also affect the Company’s ability to find enough workers to meet its needs. The nature of the Company’s 
work requires skilled workers who can perform physically demanding work. Volatility in oil and natural gas activity and the 
demanding nature of the work, however, may prompt workers to pursue other kinds of jobs that offer a more desirable work 
environment and wages competitive to the Company’s. The Company’s success depends on its ability to continue to employ 
and retain skilled technical personnel and qualified oilfield personnel. If the Company is unable to, it could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

TAX ASSESSMENTS
The Company files all required income tax returns and believes that it is in full compliance with the provisions of applicable 
taxation legislation. However, tax authorities having jurisdiction over the Company may disagree with how the Company 
calculates its income (loss) for tax purposes or could change administrative practices to the Company’s detriment. A successful 
reassessment of the Company’s income tax filings by a tax authority may have an impact on current and future taxes payable, 
which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and cash flows.

GROWTH-RELATED RISKS
The Company’s ability to manage growth effectively will require it to continue to implement and improve its operational and 
financial systems and to expand, train and manage its employee base. If the Company proved unable to deal with this growth, 
it could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

ADVISORIES
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
In order to provide Calfrac shareholders and potential investors with information regarding the Company and its subsidiaries, 
including management’s assessment of Calfrac’s plans and future operations, certain statements contained in this MD&A, 
including statements that contain words such as “seek”, “anticipate”, “plan”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “may”, “will”, 
“project”, “predict”, “potential”, “targeting”, “intend”, “could”, “might”, “should”, “believe”, “forecast” or similar words 
suggesting future outcomes, are forward-looking statements.
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In particular, forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but are not limited to, statements with respect to expected 
operating strategies and targets, capital expenditure programs, future financial resources, use of funds held in the Company’s 
segregated bank account (as an equity cure or otherwise), anticipated equipment utilization levels, future oil and natural gas 
well activity in each of the Company’s operating jurisdictions, results of acquisitions, the impact of environmental regulations 
and economic reforms and sanctions on the Company’s business, future costs or potential liabilities, projections of market 
prices and costs, supply and demand for oilfield services, expectations regarding the Company’s ability to maintain its 
competitive position, anticipated benefits of the Company’s competitive position, expectations regarding the Company’s ability 
to raise capital, treatment under government regulatory regimes, commodity prices, anticipated outcomes of specific events 
(including the Greek and U.S. litigation), trends in, and the growth prospects of, the global oil and natural gas industry, the 
Company’s growth prospects including, without limitation, its international growth strategy and prospects, and the impact of 
changes in accounting policies and standards on the Company and its financial statements. These statements are derived from 
certain assumptions and analyses made by the Company based on its experience and perception of historical trends, current 
conditions, expected future developments and other factors that it believes are appropriate in the circumstances, including, 
but not limited to, the economic and political environment in which the Company operates, the Company’s expectations for 
its current and prospective customers’ capital budgets and geographical areas of focus, the Company’s existing contracts and 
the status of current negotiations with key customers and suppliers, the focus of the Company’s customers on increasing the 
use of 24-hour operations in North America, the effectiveness of cost reduction measures instituted by the Company, the effect 
unconventional gas projects have had on supply and demand fundamentals for natural gas and the likelihood that the current 
tax and regulatory regime will remain substantially unchanged.

Forward-looking statements are subject to a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from the Company’s expectations. Such risk factors include: general economic conditions in Canada, 
the United States, Russia, Mexico and Argentina; the demand for fracturing and other stimulation services during drilling and 
completion of oil and natural gas wells; volatility in market prices for oil and natural gas and the effect of this volatility on the 
demand for oilfield services generally; regional competition; liabilities and risks, including environmental liabilities and risks, 
inherent in oil and natural gas operations; changes in legislation and the regulatory environment; sourcing, pricing and 
availability of raw materials, components, parts, equipment, suppliers, facilities and skilled personnel; the ability to integrate 
technological advances and match advances by competitors; the availability of capital on satisfactory terms; intellectual 
property risks; uncertainties in weather and temperature affecting the duration of the service periods and the activities that 
can be completed; dependence on, and concentration of, major customers; the creditworthiness and performance by the 
Company’s counterparties and customers; liabilities and risks associated with prior operations; the effect of accounting 
pronouncements issued periodically; failure to realize anticipated benefits of acquisitions and dispositions; and currency 
exchange rate risk. Further information about these and other risks and uncertainties may be found under “Business Risks” 
above.

Consequently, all of the forward-looking statements made in this MD&A are qualified by these cautionary statements and there 
can be no assurance that actual results or developments anticipated by the Company will be realized, or that they will have 
the expected consequences or effects on the Company or its business or operations. These statements speak only as of the 
respective date of this MD&A or the document incorporated by reference herein. The Company assumes no obligation to 
update publicly any such forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, 
except as required pursuant to applicable securities laws.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Further information regarding Calfrac Well Services Ltd., including the most recently filed Annual Information Form, can be 
accessed on the Company’s website at www.calfrac.com or under the Company’s public filings found at www.sedar.com.
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MANAGEMENT’S LETTER

To the Shareholders of Calfrac Well Services Ltd.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements and all information in the Annual Report are the responsibility of 
management. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the accounting 
policies set out in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. When necessary, management has made 
informed judgments and estimates in accounting for transactions that were not complete at the balance sheet date. In the 
opinion of management, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared within acceptable limits of materiality and 
are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) appropriate in the circumstances. The financial 
information elsewhere in the Annual Report has been reviewed to ensure consistency with that in the consolidated financial 
statements.

Management has prepared the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). The MD&A is based on the Company’s financial 
results prepared in accordance with IFRS. The MD&A compares the audited financial results for the years ended December 31, 
2015 and December 31, 2014.

Management maintains appropriate systems of internal control. Policies and procedures are designed to give reasonable 
assurance that transactions are properly authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records properly maintained to 
provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent firm of chartered professional accountants, was engaged, as approved by a vote 
of shareholders at the Company’s most recent annual meeting, to audit the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS and provide an independent professional opinion. 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is comprised of four independent directors who are not employees of 
the Company, has discussed the consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, with management and the 
external auditors. The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on the recommendation 
of the Audit Committee.

 
Fernando Aguilar Michael (Mick) J. McNulty
President and Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

February 23, 2016
Calgary, Alberta, Canada
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Calfrac Well Services Ltd.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Calfrac Well Services Ltd., which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 and the consolidated statements of operations, 
consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income, consolidated statements of changes in equity and consolidated 
statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Calfrac 
Well Services Ltd. as at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants

February 23, 2016
Calgary, Alberta, Canada
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As at December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents (note 3) 124,005 99,129

Accounts receivable 221,995 521,137

Income taxes recoverable 3,540 –

Inventories (note 4) 127,622 182,161

Prepaid expenses and deposits 18,017 16,871

495,179 819,298

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment (note 5) 1,301,272 1,302,939

Goodwill (note 6) — 9,544

Deferred income tax assets (note 13) 19,372 25,586

Total assets 1,815,823 2,157,367

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 172,633 356,933

Income taxes payable — 3,856

Bank loans (note 7) 15,633 16,388

Current portion of long-term debt (note 8) 523 429

Current portion of finance lease obligations 438 458

189,227 378,064

Non-current liabilities

Long-term debt (note 8) 927,270 738,386

Finance lease obligations 382 1,048

Other long-term liabilities — 4,060

Deferred income tax liabilities (note 13) 75,225 203,406

Total liabilities 1,192,104 1,324,964

Equity attributable to the shareholders of Calfrac

Capital stock (note 9) 409,809 377,975

Contributed surplus (note 11) 27,849 24,767

Loan receivable for purchase of common shares (note 19) (2,500) (2,500)

Retained earnings 213,426 459,891

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (21,054) (26,757)

627,530 833,376

Non-controlling interest (3,811) (973)

Total equity 623,719 832,403

Total liabilities and equity 1,815,823 2,157,367

Commitments (note 14); Contingencies (note 23)
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors,

 
Ronald P. Mathison, Director Gregory S. Fletcher, Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s, except per share data) ($) ($)

Revenue 1,495,205 2,496,931

Cost of sales (note 20) 1,543,882 2,147,772

Gross profit (48,677) 349,159

Expenses

Selling, general and administrative 78,577 131,344

Foreign exchange losses 37,025 30,167

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2,257) 1,577

Business combination (note 17) (30,987) —

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 5) 114,479 4,620

Impairment of inventory (note 4) 14,333 —

Impairment of goodwill (note 6) 9,544 979

Provision for settlement of litigation (note 23) 3,165 4,640

Interest 68,967 59,584

292,846 232,911

Income (loss) before income tax (341,523) 116,248

Income tax expense (recovery) (note 13)

Current 1,872 15,733

Deferred (115,969) 33,013

(114,097) 48,746

Net (loss) income (227,426) 67,502

Net (loss) income attributable to:

Shareholders of Calfrac (221,594) 66,976

Non-controlling interest (5,832) 526

(227,426) 67,502

Earnings (loss) per share (note 9)

Basic (2.31) 0.71

Diluted (2.31) 0.71

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Net (loss) income (227,426) 67,502

Other comprehensive (loss) income

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

Change in foreign currency translation adjustment 6,690 (25,839)

Comprehensive (loss) income (220,736) 41,663

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to:

Shareholders of Calfrac (215,891) 41,058

Non-controlling interest (4,845) 605

(220,736) 41,663

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity Attributable to the Shareholders of Calfrac

Share
Capital

Contributed
Surplus

Loan
Receivable

for Purchase
of Common

Shares

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Retained
Earnings Total

Non-
Controlling

Interest
Total

Equity

(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Balance – Jan. 1, 2015 377,975 24,767 (2,500) (26,757) 459,891 833,376 (973) 832,403

Net loss — — — — (221,594) (221,594) (5,832) (227,426)

Other comprehensive income
(loss):

Cumulative translation
adjustment — — — 5,703 — 5,703 987 6,690

Comprehensive income (loss) — — — 5,703 (221,594) (215,891) (4,845) (220,736)

Stock options:

Stock-based compensation
recognized — 3,082 — — — 3,082 — 3,082

Net proceeds from issuance of
shares (note 9) 25,194 — — — — 25,194 — 25,194

Dividend Reinvestment Plan shares
issued (note 25) 12,733 — — — — 12,733 — 12,733

Dividends — — — — (21,550) (21,550) — (21,550)

Shares purchased under NCIB
(note 10) (6,093) — — — (3,321) (9,414) — (9,414)

Non-controlling interest
contribution — 2,007 2,007

Balance – Dec. 31, 2015 409,809 27,849 (2,500) (21,054) 213,426 627,530 (3,811) 623,719

Balance – Jan. 1, 2014 332,287 27,658 (2,500) (839) 440,179 796,785 (1,578) 795,207

Net income — — — — 66,976 66,976 526 67,502

Other comprehensive income
(loss):

Cumulative translation
adjustment — — — (25,918) — (25,918) 79 (25,839)

Comprehensive income (loss) — — — (25,918) 66,976 41,058 605 41,663

Stock options:

Stock-based compensation
recognized — 4,138 — — — 4,138 — 4,138

Proceeds from issuance of shares 27,722 (7,095) — — — 20,627 — 20,627

Dividend Reinvestment Plan shares
issued (note 25) 18,011 — — — — 18,011 — 18,011

Dividends — — — — (47,264) (47,264) — (47,264)

Shares cancelled (note 11) (45) 66 — — — 21 — 21

Balance – Dec. 31, 2014 377,975 24,767 (2,500) (26,757) 459,891 833,376 (973) 832,403

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net (loss) income (227,426) 67,502

Adjusted for the following:

Depreciation 156,638 139,395

Stock-based compensation 3,082 4,138

Unrealized foreign exchange losses 42,592 17,660

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2,257) 1,577

Gain on business combination (note 17) (31,965) —

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 5) 114,479 4,620

Impairment of inventory (note 4) 14,333 —

Impairment of goodwill (note 6) 9,544 979

Interest 68,967 59,584

Deferred income taxes (115,969) 33,013

Interest paid (65,647) (56,754)

Changes in items of working capital (note 16) 154,691 (69,245)

Cash flows provided by operating activities 121,062 202,469

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Bank loan proceeds 20,614 18,790

Issuance of long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs 106,867 113,243

Issuance of finance lease obligation — 1,648

Bank loan repayments (17,208) (22,379)

Long-term debt repayments (60,792) (89,337)

Finance lease obligation repayments (466) (189)

Shares purchased under NCIB (note 10) (9,414) —

Net proceeds on issuance of common shares (note 9) 25,194 20,627

Dividends paid, net of DRIP (note 25) (18,918) (28,920)

Cash flows provided by financing activities 45,877 13,483

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (note 16) (160,773) (162,549)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 13,214 2,475

Business combination (note 17) (9,498) —

Other 2,007 21

Cash flows used in investing activities (155,050) (160,053)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 12,987 1,035

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 24,876 56,934

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 99,129 42,195

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period (note 3) 124,005 99,129

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
(Amounts in text and tables are in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share data and certain other exceptions as indicated) (unaudited)

1.  DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Calfrac Well Services Ltd. (the “Company”) was formed through the amalgamation of Calfrac Well Services Ltd. (predecessor 
company originally incorporated on June 28, 1999) and Denison Energy Inc. (“Denison”) on March 24, 2004 under the Business 
Corporations Act (Alberta). The registered office is at 411 - 8th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta, Canada, T2P 1E3. The Company 
provides specialized oilfield services, including hydraulic fracturing, coiled tubing, cementing and other well completion services 
to the oil and natural gas industries in Canada, the United States, Russia, Mexico and Argentina.

These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and interpretations by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). 

The Company has consistently applied the same accounting policies throughout the periods presented, as if these policies had 
always been in effect.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors for issuance on February 23, 2016.

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The policies set out below were consistently applied to the periods presented as if these policies had been in effect since the 
Company’s inception. 

(a) Basis of Measurement

The consolidated financial statements were prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the revaluation of certain 
financial assets and liabilities to fair value.

(b) Principles of Consolidation

These financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries in Canada, the United 
States, Russia, Mexico, and its 80-percent-owned subsidiary in Argentina. All inter-company transactions, balances and resulting 
unrealized gains and losses are eliminated upon consolidation.

Subsidiaries are those entities which the Company controls by having the power to govern their financial and operating policies. 
The existence and effect of voting rights that are exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Company 
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated upon the Company obtaining control and are deconsolidated upon 
control ceasing.

(c) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires that certain estimates and judgments be made concerning 
the reported amount of revenue and expenses and the carrying values of assets and liabilities. These estimates are based on 
historical experience and management’s judgment. The estimation of anticipated future events involves uncertainty and, 
consequently, the estimates used by management in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements may change as 
future events unfold, additional experience is acquired or the environment in which the Company operates changes. The 
accounting policies and practices that involve the use of estimates that have a significant impact on the Company’s financial 
results include the allowance for doubtful accounts, depreciation, the fair value of financial instruments, the carrying value of 
goodwill, income taxes, and stock-based compensation. 

Judgment is also used in the determination of cash-generating units (CGUs), impairment of non-financial assets and the 
functional currency of each subsidiary.

i) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and grants credit based on a review of historical collection 
experience, current aging status, the customer’s financial condition and anticipated industry conditions. Customer payments 
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are regularly monitored and a provision for doubtful accounts is established based on specific situations and overall industry 
conditions. 

ii) Depreciation

Depreciation of the Company’s property and equipment incorporates estimates of useful lives and residual values. These 
estimates may change as more experience is obtained or as general market conditions change, thereby affecting the value of 
the Company’s property and equipment.

iii) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments included in the consolidated balance sheets are comprised of cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank loan, long-term debt and finance lease obligations.

The fair values of these financial instruments, except long-term debt, approximate their carrying amounts due to their short-
term maturity. The fair value of the senior unsecured notes is based on the closing market price at the reporting period’s end-
date, as described in note 8. The fair values of the remaining long-term debt and finance lease obligations approximate their 
carrying values.

iv) Carrying Value of Goodwill

Goodwill represents an excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired and is not amortized. The Company 
assesses goodwill at least annually. Goodwill is allocated to each operating segment, which represents the lowest level within 
the Company at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. The fair value of each operating segment 
is compared to the carrying value of its net assets. The results of the assessment for goodwill impairment are disclosed in note 
6.

v) Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
financial statement amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Estimates of the Company’s future 
taxable income were considered in assessing the utilization of available tax losses. The Company’s business is complex and the 
calculation of income taxes involves many complex factors as well as the Company’s interpretation of relevant tax legislation 
and regulations. 

vi) Stock-Based Compensation

The fair value of stock options is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which includes 
underlying assumptions related to the risk-free interest rate, average expected option life, estimated forfeitures, estimated 
volatility of the Company’s shares and anticipated dividends.

The fair value of the deferred share units, performance share units and restricted share units is recognized based on the market 
value of the Company’s shares underlying these compensation programs. 

See note 12 for further information on stock-based compensation.

vii) Functional Currency

Management applies judgment in determining the functional currency of its foreign subsidiaries. Judgment is made regarding 
the currency that influences and determines sales prices, labour, material and other costs as well as financing and receipts 
from operating income. 

viii) Cash-Generating Units

The determination of CGUs is based on management’s judgment regarding shared equipment, mobility of equipment, 
geographical proximity, and materiality.
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ix) Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of cash-generating units are determined based on value in 
use calculations. These calculations requires the use of judgment applied by management regarding forecasted activity levels, 
expected future results, and discount rates. See note 5 for further information on impairment of property, plant and equipment.

(d) Foreign Currency Translation

i) Functional and Presentation Currency

Each of the Company’s subsidiaries is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the 
Company’s presentation currency.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries that have a different functional currency are translated into Canadian dollars 
whereby assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date, revenue and expenses are 
translated at average monthly exchange rates (as this is considered a reasonable approximation of actual rates), and gains and 
losses in translation are recognized in shareholders’ equity as accumulated other comprehensive income.

The following foreign entities have a functional currency other than the Canadian dollar:

Entity Functional Currency

United States U.S. dollar

Russia Russian rouble

Argentina Argentinean peso

Mexico Mexican peso

In the event the Company disposed of its entire interest in a foreign operation, or lost control, joint control, or significant 
influence over a foreign operation, the related foreign currency gains or losses accumulated in other comprehensive income 
would be recognized in profit or loss. If the Company disposed of part of an interest in a foreign operation which remained a 
subsidiary, a proportionate amount of the related foreign currency gains or losses accumulated in other comprehensive income 
would be reallocated between controlling and non-controlling interests.

ii) Transactions and Balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction 
date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation 
at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than an entity’s functional 
currency are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations.

(e) Financial Instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are 
derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated balance sheets when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

All financial instruments are measured at fair value on initial recognition of the instrument. Measurement in subsequent periods 
depends on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired, and instruments are classified as “financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”, “available-for-sale investments”, “loans and receivables”, “financial liabilities at 
amortized cost”, or “derivative financial instruments” as defined in International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
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Cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable are designated as “loans and receivables” and are measured at amortized 
cost. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are designated as “financial liabilities at amortized cost” and are carried at 
amortized cost. Bank loans, long-term debt and finance lease obligations are designated as “financial liabilities at amortized 
cost” and carried at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The financing costs associated with the Company’s 
loan facility and US$600,000 private placement of senior unsecured notes are included in the amortized cost of the debt. These 
costs are amortized to interest expense over the term of the debt. 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired.

(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or 
less.

(g) Inventory

Inventory consists of chemicals, sand and proppant, coiled tubing, cement, nitrogen and carbon dioxide used to stimulate oil 
and natural gas wells, as well as spare equipment parts. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost, determined on a first-in, first-
out basis, and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less applicable selling expenses. If carrying 
value exceeds net realizable amount, a write-down is recognized. The write-down may be reversed in a subsequent period if 
the circumstances which caused it no longer exist.

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent costs are included in the 
asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced 
asset is derecognized when replaced. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statements of operations 
during the period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful economic lives using the straight-line method over 
the following periods:

Field equipment 5 - 30 years
Buildings 20 years
Shop, office and other equipment 5 years
Computers and computer software 3 years
Leasehold improvements Term of the lease

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the 
asset is classified as held for sale and the date that the asset is derecognized. Depreciation does not cease when the asset 
becomes idle or is retired from active use unless the asset is fully depreciated. Assets under construction are not depreciated 
until they are available for use.

The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment to its significant 
components and depreciates each component separately. Residual values, method of amortization and useful lives are reviewed 
annually and adjusted, if appropriate.

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying 
amount of the assets and are included in the consolidated statements of operations.

(i) Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. Qualifying assets are defined as assets which 
take a substantial period to construct (generally greater than one year). All other borrowing costs are recognized as interest 
expense in the consolidated statements of operations in the period in which they are incurred. The Company does not currently 
have any qualifying assets. 
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(j) Non-Controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests represent equity interests in subsidiaries owned by outside parties. The share of net assets of 
subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests is presented as a component of equity. Their share of net income and 
comprehensive income is recognized directly in equity. Changes in the parent company’s ownership interest in subsidiaries 
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

(k) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Long-lived assets that are not amortized are subject to an annual impairment test. 
For the purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets are grouped in CGUs, the lowest level with separately identifiable 
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use (defined as the present value of the future cash flows to be derived from an 
asset). An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or at any time if there is an indicator of impairment.

Goodwill acquired through a business combination is allocated to each operating segment that is expected to benefit from the 
related business combination. The operating segment level represents the lowest level within the Company at which goodwill 
is monitored for internal management purposes.

The Company evaluates impairment losses, other than goodwill impairment, for potential reversals when events or 
circumstances warrant such consideration.

(l) Income Taxes

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case the income tax is also recognized directly in 
equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted, 
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

In general, deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise 
from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax 
asset or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates except, in the 
case of subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Company and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities when there is an intention to settle the balances on a 
net basis. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current.

For the purposes of calculating income taxes during interim periods, the Company utilizes estimated annualized income tax 
rates. Current income tax expense is only recognized when taxable income is such that current income tax becomes payable.

(m) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized for services upon completion provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company, 
the sales price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. These criteria are generally met at the time 
the services are performed and have been accepted by the customer.
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(n) Stock-Based Compensation Plans

The Company recognizes compensation cost for the fair value of stock options granted. Under this method, the Company 
records the fair value of stock option grants based on the number of options expected to vest over their vesting period as a 
charge to compensation expense and a credit to contributed surplus. The fair value of each tranche within an award is considered 
a separate award with its own vesting period and grant date. The fair value of each tranche within an award is measured at 
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The number of awards expected to vest is reviewed on an ongoing basis, with any impact being recognized immediately.

The Company recognizes compensation cost for the fair value of deferred share units granted to its outside directors and 
performance share units granted to its senior officers who do not participate in the stock option plan. The fair value of the 
deferred share units and performance share units is recognized based on the market value of the Company’s shares underlying 
these compensation programs. 

The Company recognizes compensation cost for the fair value of restricted share units granted to its employees. The fair value 
of the restricted share units is recognized based on the market value of the Company’s shares underlying this compensation 
program.

(o) Business Combinations

The Company applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition is the fair value of the assets transferred and the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Company. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting 
from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in 
a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Company recognizes any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognized and previously held interest 
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the 
statement of operations as a gain on acquisition.

(p) Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosure

There were no new IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that became effective on or after January 1, 2015 that had a material impact 
on the Company.

(q) Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Applied

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases, which requires lessees to recognize all leases on the balance sheet. IFRS 16 is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with earlier application permitted for companies that also 
apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the standard on its 
financial statements.

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which replaces IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts, and related interpretations. The standard is required to be adopted either retrospectively or using a modified 
transition approach for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with earlier adoption permitted. IFRS 15 will come 
into effect for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the 
standard on its financial statements.

In July 2014, the IASB completed the final elements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The Standard supersedes earlier versions 
of IFRS 9 and completes the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9, as 
amended, includes a principle based approach for classification and measurement of financial assets, a single ‘expected loss’ 
impairment model and a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. IFRS 9 will come into effect for annual periods 
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beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the 
standard on its financial statements.

3.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
On December 22, 2015, the Company received net proceeds of $25,194 from a private placement offering of common shares, 
as described in note 9. $25,000 of the net proceeds are currently held in a segregated account and these funds are available 
for use at the Company’s discretion, and this amount can be transferred, in whole or in part, to its operating bank account at 
any time. The Company can also elect to use the proceeds as a reduction of Funded Debt as well as include in the calculation 
of EBITDA for purposes of the Company’s Funded Debt to EBITDA bank covenant.

4.  INVENTORIES

As at December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Spare equipment parts 76,261 93,486

Chemicals 20,683 37,756

Sand and proppant 14,001 34,340

Coiled tubing 14,821 13,428

Other 1,856 3,151

127,622 182,161

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the cost of inventories recognized as an expense and included in cost of sales was 
approximately $626,000 (year ended December 31, 2014 – $936,000).

The Company reviews the carrying value of its inventory on an ongoing basis for obsolescence and to verify that the carrying 
value exceeds the net realizable amount. As a result of lower levels of activity, the Company recorded an impairment charge 
of $14,333 to write-off obsolete inventory and write-down inventory to its net realizable amount. 

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Canada 4,032 —

United States 10,301 —

14,333 —

5.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Year Ended December 31,
2015

Opening Net
Book Value Additions Disposals Impairment Depreciation

Exchange
Differences

Closing
Net Book

Value
(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Assets under construction(1) 123,950 69,284 (117) (1,670) — 4,002 195,449

Field equipment 1,058,178 89,605 (10,478) (112,646) (144,133) 99,476 980,002

Field equipment under finance
lease 2,274 — — — (273) (403) 1,598

Buildings 63,950 (104) — (22) (4,625) 7,289 66,488

Land 38,439 120 — — — 3,970 42,529

Shop, office and other
equipment 8,132 2,320 (278) (107) (2,909) 777 7,935

Computers and computer
software 4,756 3,194 (42) (34) (3,896) 124 4,102

Leasehold improvements 3,260 978 (42) — (802) (225) 3,169

1,302,939 165,397 (10,957) (114,479) (156,638) 115,010 1,301,272
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As at December 31, 2015 Cost
Accumulated
Depreciation

Net Book
Value

(C$000s) ($) ($) ($)

Assets under construction 195,449 — 195,449

Field equipment 1,741,331 (761,329) 980,002

Field equipment under finance lease 2,781 (1,183) 1,598

Buildings 79,444 (12,956) 66,488

Land 42,529 — 42,529

Shop, office and other equipment 24,068 (16,133) 7,935

Computers and computer software 23,698 (19,596) 4,102

Leasehold improvements 8,900 (5,731) 3,169

2,118,200 (816,928) 1,301,272

Year Ended December 31,
2014

Opening Net
Book Value Additions Disposals Impairment Depreciation

Exchange
Differences

Closing
Net Book

Value
(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Assets under construction(1) 111,568 11,495 — (2,232) — 3,119 123,950

Field equipment 1,016,800 152,880 (3,849) (2,143) (127,768) 22,258 1,058,178

Field equipment under finance
lease — 2,781 — — (38) (469) 2,274

Buildings 65,475 707 — — (4,269) 2,037 63,950

Land 34,932 1,848 — — — 1,659 38,439

Shop, office and other
equipment 8,742 2,295 (75) (153) (2,669) (8) 8,132

Computers and computer
software 5,064 3,806 (128) (46) (4,008) 68 4,756

Leasehold improvements 2,428 1,773 — (46) (643) (252) 3,260

1,245,009 177,585 (4,052) (4,620) (139,395) 28,412 1,302,939

As at December 31, 2014 Cost
Accumulated
Depreciation

Net Book
Value

(C$000s) ($) ($) ($)

Assets under construction 123,950 — 123,950

Field equipment 1,662,204 (604,026) 1,058,178

Field equipment under finance lease 2,781 (507) 2,274

Buildings 79,548 (15,598) 63,950

Land 38,439 — 38,439

Shop, office and other equipment 22,026 (13,894) 8,132

Computers and computer software 20,546 (15,790) 4,756

Leasehold improvements 7,964 (4,704) 3,260

1,957,458 (654,519) 1,302,939
(1) Additions for assets under construction are net of transfers into the other categories of property, plant and equipment, when they become available for use.

Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2. The Company 
reviews the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment at each reporting period for indicators of impairment. During 
the fourth quarter of 2015, the impact of the continued decline in oil and natural gas prices on the Company’s current and 
future financial results and the oversupply of pressure pumping equipment in North America were indicators of impairment 
and the Company estimated the recoverable amount of its property, plant and equipment.
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The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment was determined using the value in use method, based on multi-
year discounted cash flows to be generated from the continuing operations of each cash-generating unit (CGU). The Company’s 
CGUs are determined to be at the country level, consisting of Canada, the United States, Russia, Mexico and Argentina. Cash 
flow assumptions were based on a combination of historical and expected future results, using the following main key 
assumptions:

• Commodity price forecasts
• Expected revenue growth
• Expected operating income growth
• Discount rate

The main commodity price assumptions over the forecast periods were:

• WTI Crude Oil (US$/bbl) increased from a low of below $30 in 2016 to an average of $81 in 2020
• Henry Hub Gas (US$/mmBtu) increased from $2.25 in 2016 to $4.25 in 2020
• AECO Gas (C$/mcf) increased from $2.76 in 2016 to $3.96 in 2020

Revenue and operating income growth rates for each CGU were based on a combination of commodity price assumptions, 
historical results and forecasted activity levels, which incorporated pricing, utilization and cost improvements over the period. 
The revenue and operating income cumulative annual growth rates (CAGR) over the five-year forecast period, by CGU, are 
outlined below:

Canada United States Russia Argentina Mexico

Revenue CAGR 33% 52% 6% 31% 61%

Operating income CAGR 268% 233% 13% 42% 72%

The revenue and operating income assumptions for 2016 were significantly below 2015 actual results. Throughout the forecast 
periods, revenue and operating income assumptions remained below the Company’s best years in its history. In the table above, 
the percentage increases in Canada and the United States reflect the fact that 2016 assumptions are significantly lower than 
historical results.

The cash flows were prepared on a five-year basis, using a discount rate ranging from 14.0 percent to 22.0 percent depending 
on the CGU. Discount rates are derived from the Company’s weighted average cost of capital, adjusted for risk factors specific 
to each CGU. Cash flows beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady 2.0 percent growth rate.

Canada United States Russia Argentina Mexico

Discount rate 14.0% 14.0% 18.0% 22.0% 15.0%

A comparison of the recoverable amounts of each cash-generating unit with their respective carrying amounts resulted in an 
impairment charge against property, plant and equipment of $103,322 at December 31, 2015.

The recoverable amount for each CGU that was impaired is as follows:

Recoverable
Amount

Impairment
Recorded

(C$000s) ($) ($)

United States 623,826 101,462

Mexico 11,000 1,860
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A sensitivity analysis on the discount rate and expected future cash flows would have the following impact:

Impairment

Canada United States Russia Argentina Mexico

(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

10% increase in expected future cash flows None 38,289 None None None

10% decrease in expected future cash flows None 162,289 None 7,992 2,099

1% decrease in discount rate None 31,300 None None None

1% increase in discount rate None 159,289 None 4,000 2,099

Assumptions that are valid at the time of preparing the impairment test at December 31, 2015 may change significantly when 
new information becomes available. The Company will continue to monitor and update its assumptions and estimates with 
respect to property, plant and equipment impairment on an ongoing basis.

Furthermore, the Company carried out a comprehensive review of its property, plant and equipment and identified assets that 
were permanently idle or obsolete, and therefore, no longer able to generate cash inflows. These assets were written down 
to their recoverable amount resulting in an impairment charge of $11,157 for the year ended December 31, 2015 (year ended 
December 31, 2014 - $4,620).

The impairment losses by CGU are as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014

(C$000s) ($) ($)

Canada 10,091 2,941

United States 102,528 401

Mexico 1,860 —

Colombia — 1,278

114,479 4,620

6.  GOODWILL
Goodwill is tested for impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2. Goodwill acquired through a 
business combination is allocated to that operating segment (or segments) which represent the lowest level within the Company 
at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 

During the third quarter of 2015, the impact of the decline in oil and natural gas prices on the Company’s current and future 
financial results and the oversupply of pressure pumping equipment in North America were indicators of impairment and the 
Company estimated the recoverable amount of its goodwill.

The fair value of each operating segment was compared to the carrying value of its net assets. The fair value of each operating 
segment was derived using an accepted valuation method, which utilizes a discounted cash flow approach. Such approaches 
are typically utilized in valuing oilfield service companies.

The discount rate used in the discounted cash flow approach ranged from 14.0 percent to 24.0 percent depending on the 
operating segment.

The Company completed its assessment of goodwill impairment and determined that the recoverable amounts of the operating 
segments were less than their carrying amounts, resulting in an impairment charge of $9,544 for the year ended December 
31, 2015 (year ended December 31, 2014 - $979).
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The impairment losses by operating segment are as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Canada 7,236 —

United States 2,308 —

Russia — 979

9,544 979

7.  BANK LOANS
The Company’s Argentinean subsidiary has two operating lines of credit, and a total of ARS147,290 ($15,633) was drawn at 
December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014 - ARS120,792 ($16,388)). The interest rates range from 34.3 percent to 48.0 percent 
per annum and both lines of credit are secured by letters of credit issued by the Company.

8.  LONG-TERM DEBT

As at December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

US$600,000 senior unsecured notes due December 1, 2020, bearing interest at 7.50% payable semi-
annually 830,400 696,060

Less: unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discount (10,306) (10,404)

820,094 685,656

$270,000 extendible revolving term loan facility, secured by Canadian and U.S. assets of the
Company 110,000 52,785

Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (3,588) (1,133)

106,412 51,652

US$930 mortgage maturing May 2018 bearing interest at U.S. prime less 1%, repayable at US$33 per
month principal and interest, secured by certain real property 1,287 1,507

927,793 738,815

Less: current portion of long-term debt (523) (429)

927,270 738,386

The fair value of the senior unsecured notes, as measured based on the closing quoted market price at December 31, 2015, 
was $336,312 (December 31, 2014 - $595,131). The carrying values of the mortgage obligation, bank loans and revolving term 
loan facilities approximate their fair values as the interest rates are not significantly different from current interest rates for 
similar loans.

The interest rate on the $270,000 revolving term loan facility is based on the parameters of certain bank covenants. For prime-
based loans, the rate ranges from prime plus 0.50 percent to prime plus 3.50 percent. For LIBOR-based loans and bankers’ 
acceptance-based loans the margin thereon ranges from 1.50 percent to 4.50 percent above the respective base rates for such 
loans. The facility is repayable on or before its maturity of September 27, 2018, assuming it is not extended. The maturity may 
be extended by one or more years at the Company’s request and lenders’ acceptance. The Company may also prepay principal 
without penalty. Debt issuance costs related to this facility are amortized over its term.

Interest on long-term debt (including the amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount) for the year ended December 
31, 2015 was $63,944 (year ended December 31, 2014 - $54,076).
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The aggregate scheduled principal repayments required in each of the next five years are as follows:

As at December 31, 2015 Amount
(C$000s) ($)

2016 523

2017 535

2018 110,229

2019 —

2020 830,400

Thereafter —

941,687

The Company also has an extendible operating loan facility, which includes overdraft protection in the amount of $30,000. The 
interest rate is based on the parameters of certain bank covenants in the same fashion as the revolving term facility. Drawdowns 
under this facility are repayable on September 27, 2018, assuming the facility is not extended. The term and commencement 
of principal repayments may be extended by one year on each anniversary at the Company’s request and lenders’ acceptance. 
The revolving term loan and operating facilities are secured by the Company’s Canadian and U.S. assets. 

At December 31, 2015, the Company had utilized $40,101 of its loan facility for letters of credit and had $110,000 outstanding 
under its revolving term loan facility, leaving $149,899 in available credit.

See note 18 for further details on the covenants in respect of the Company’s long-term debt. 

9.  CAPITAL STOCK
Authorized capital stock consists of an unlimited number of common shares.

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014

Continuity of Common Shares Shares Amount Shares Amount

(#) (C$000s) (#) (C$000s)

Balance, beginning of period 95,252,559 377,975 92,597,148 332,287

Issued upon exercise of stock options — — 1,537,775 27,722

Dividend Reinvestment Plan shares issued (note 25) 1,474,379 12,733 1,123,296 18,011

Shares purchased under NCIB (note 10) (1,517,700) (6,093) — —

Shares from private placement 20,370,370 25,194 — —

Shares cancelled (note 11) (10) — (5,660) (45)

Balance, end of period 115,579,598 409,809 95,252,559 377,975

The weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2015 was 95,907,014 basic 
and 96,076,214 diluted (year ended December 31, 2014 - 94,112,758 basic and 94,781,241 diluted). The difference between 
basic and diluted shares is attributable to the dilutive effect of stock options issued by the Company as disclosed in note 12. 

On December 22, 2015, the Company closed a bought deal private placement of 20,370,370 common shares for total gross 
proceeds of $27,500. Share issuance costs for the transaction were $2,306, resulting in net proceeds of $25,194. 

10.  NORMAL COURSE ISSUER BID
The Company received regulatory approval to purchase its own common shares in accordance with a Normal Course Issuer 
Bid (NCIB) for the one-year period December 17, 2014 through December 16, 2015. During the year ended December 31, 2015, 
1,517,700 common shares were purchased at a cost of $9,414 and, of the amount paid, $6,093 was charged to capital stock 
and $3,321 to retained earnings. These common shares were cancelled prior to December 31, 2015 (year ended December 
31, 2014 - $nil).
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11.  CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

Continuity of Contributed Surplus

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014

(C$000s) ($) ($)

Balance, beginning of period 24,767 27,658

Stock options expensed 3,082 4,138

Stock options exercised — (7,095)

Shares cancelled — 66

Balance, end of period 27,849 24,767

During 2015, ten common shares were returned to the Company for cancellation. For accounting purposes, the cancellation 
of these shares was recorded as a reduction of capital stock in the amount of forty dollars, along with a corresponding increase 
to contributed surplus.

On November 10, 2009, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Century Oilfield Services Inc. 
(“Century”). The Plan of Arrangement that governed the acquisition included a five-year “sunset clause” which provided that 
untendered shares would be surrendered to the Company after five years. Effective November 10, 2014, 5,660 common shares 
of the Company previously held in trust for untendered shareholders were cancelled. In addition, residual proceeds of $21 
previously held in trust for untendered shareholders were returned to the Company.

For accounting purposes, the cancellation of the 5,660 common shares was recorded as a reduction of capital stock in the 
amount of $45. Along with the residual cash received, a corresponding increase in contributed surplus was recorded in the 
amount of $66.

12.  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
(a) Stock Options

2015 2014

Continuity of Stock Options Options
Average

Exercise Price Options
Average

Exercise Price
(#) (C$) (#) (C$)

Balance, January 1 4,269,050 14.76 5,002,750 13.99

Granted during the period 5,375,450 4.39 1,289,700 15.74

Exercised for common shares — — (1,537,775) 13.41

Forfeited (441,803) 13.59 (377,400) 14.65

Expired (972,750) 16.82 (108,225) 10.37

Balance, December 31 8,229,947 7.81 4,269,050 14.76

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Exercise Price Per Option
Number of

Options

Weighted
Average

Remaining Life
(Years)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Number of

Options

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

$1.99 - $2.03 3,646,900 5.00 $ 1.99 — $ —

$2.04 - $10.51 1,626,450 4.08 $ 9.43 — $ —

$10.52 - $12.38 977,400 1.96 $ 12.18 482,596 $ 12.16

$12.39 - $15.50 843,200 1.27 $ 13.90 577,948 $ 14.00

$15.51 - $20.81 1,135,997 2.85 $ 15.86 343,064 $ 16.04

$1.99 - $20.81 8,229,947 3.78 $ 7.81 1,403,608 $ 13.86
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Stock options vest equally over four years and expire five years from the date of grant. When stock options are exercised, the 
proceeds together with the compensation expense previously recorded in contributed surplus, are added to capital stock. 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2015, determined using the Black-Scholes valuation method, was 
$0.97 per option (year ended December 31, 2014 - $3.67). The Company applied the following assumptions in determining 
the fair value of options on the date of grant:

2015 2014

Expected life (years) 3.5 3.5

Expected volatility 42.22% 36.8%

Risk-free interest rate 0.68% 1.3%

Expected dividends $0.02 $0.50

Expected volatility is estimated by considering historical average share price volatility.

(b) Share Units

2015 2014

Continuity of Stock Units
Deferred Share

Units
Performance

Share Units
Restricted

Share Units
Deferred Share

Units
Performance

Share Units
Restricted

Share Units
(#) (#) (#) (#) (#) (#)

Balance, January 1 70,000 120,000 1,346,642 70,000 90,000 1,027,590

Granted during the period 72,500 178,995 995,007 70,000 120,000 806,900

Exercised (70,000) (60,000) (614,464) (70,000) (90,000) (391,014)

Forfeited — — (914,357) — — (96,834)

Balance, December 31 72,500 238,995 812,828 70,000 120,000 1,346,642

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014

($) ($)

Expense (recovery) from:

Stock options 3,082 4,138

Deferred share units 111 704

Performance share units 32 1,094

Restricted share units (3,049) 4,987

Total stock-based compensation expense 176 10,923

Stock-based compensation expense is included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

The Company grants deferred share units to its outside directors. These units vest in November of the year of grant and are 
settled either in cash (equal to the market value of the underlying shares at the time of exercise) or in Company shares purchased 
on the open market. The fair value of the deferred share units is recognized equally over the vesting period, based on the 
current market price of the Company’s shares. At December 31, 2015, the liability pertaining to deferred share units was $143 
(December 31, 2014 - $701).

The Company grants performance share units to a senior officer. The amount of the grants earned is linked to corporate 
performance and the grants vest on the approval of the Board of Directors at the meeting held to approve the consolidated 
financial statements for the year in respect of which performance is being evaluated. As with the deferred share units, 
performance share units are settled either in cash or Company shares purchased on the open market. At December 31, 2015, 
the liability pertaining to performance share units was $373 (December 31, 2014 - $868).

The Company grants restricted share units to its employees. These units vest equally over three years and are settled either 
in cash (equal to the market value of the underlying shares at the time of exercise) or in Company shares purchased on the 
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open market. The fair value of the restricted share units is recognized over the vesting period, based on the current market 
price of the Company’s shares. At December 31, 2015, the liability pertaining to restricted share units was $939 (December 31, 
2014 - $9,602).

Changes in the Company’s obligations under the deferred, performance and restricted share unit plans, which arise from 
fluctuations in the market value of the Company’s shares underlying these compensation programs, are recorded as the share 
value changes.

13.  INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax expense (recovery) are:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Current income tax expense 1,872 15,733

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) (115,969) 33,013

(114,097) 48,746

The provision for income taxes in the consolidated statements of operations varies from the amount that would be computed 
by applying the expected 2015 tax rate of 26.0 percent (year ended December 31, 2014 – 25.0 percent) to income before 
income taxes.

The main reasons for differences between the expected income tax expense (recovery) and the amount recorded are:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s except percentages) ($) ($)

Income (loss) before income tax (341,523) 116,247

Income tax rate (%) 26.0 25.0

Computed expected income tax expense (recovery) (88,796) 29,062

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

Non-deductible expenses/non-taxable income (2,722) (5,393)

Foreign tax rate and other foreign differences (33,631) 12,123

Translation of foreign subsidiaries 300 1,265

Deferred income tax adjustment from tax rate changes 3,871 0

Other non-income taxes 1,535 2,592

Derecognition of tax losses 15,677 4,310

Business combination (8,056) —

Other (2,275) 4,787

(114,097) 48,746
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The following table summarizes the income tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to the deferred income tax asset 
(liability) at December 31:

As at December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Property, plant and equipment (226,080) (228,921)

Losses carried forward 142,833 31,918

Canadian exploration expenses 5,384 5,835

Deferred compensation payable 372 2,722

Deferred financing and share issuance costs 365 618

Other 21,273 10,008

(55,853) (177,820)

Loss carry-forwards expire at various dates ranging from December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2035.

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the current and prior year is as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Balance, beginning of year (177,820) (128,508)

Charged (credited) to the consolidated statements of operations or accumulated other
comprehensive income:

Property, plant and equipment 2,841 (28,209)

Losses carried forward 110,915 (23,162)

Canadian exploration expenses (452) (1,050)

Deferred compensation payable (2,349) (22)

Deferred financing and share issuance costs (253) 908

Other 11,265 2,223

Balance, end of year (55,853) (177,820)

The analysis of deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Deferred tax assets:

Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 19,372 25,586

Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months — 0

Deferred tax liabilities:

Deferred tax liability to be drawn down after more than 12 months (75,225) (203,406)

Deferred tax liability to be drawn down within 12 months — —

Deferred tax liabilities, net (55,853) (177,820)
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The Company has tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognized as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Tax losses (capital) 26,342 22,887

Tax losses (income) 40,536 4,310

Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be utilized.

Earnings retained by subsidiaries amounted to $67,956 at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014 – $217,615). Provision has 
been made for withholding and other taxes that would become payable on the distribution of these earnings only to the extent 
that it is expected that these earnings will be distributed in the foreseeable future.

14.  COMMITMENTS
The Company has lease commitments for premises, equipment, vehicles and storage facilities under agreements requiring 
aggregate minimum payments over the five years following December 31, 2015, as follows:

(C$000s) ($)

2016 19,419

2017 11,380

2018 6,829

2019 3,807

2020 2,471

43,906

For the year ended December 31, 2015, $48,433 was recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements of operations 
in respect of operating leases (year ended December 31, 2014 – $46,686).

The Company has obligations for the purchase of products, services and property, plant and equipment over the next five years 
following December 31, 2015, as follows: 

(C$000s) ($)

2016 122,184

2017 135,993

2018 87,417

2019 71,961

2020 4,266

421,821

15.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company’s financial instruments included in the consolidated balance sheets are comprised of cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable, deposits, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank loans, long-term debt and finance lease obligations.

(a) Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments included in the consolidated balance sheets, except long-term debt, approximate their 
carrying amounts due to the short-term maturity of those instruments. The fair value of the senior unsecured notes based on 
the closing market price at December 31, 2015 was $336,312 before deduction of unamortized debt issuance costs (December 
31, 2014 – $595,131). The carrying value of the senior unsecured notes at December 31, 2015 was $830,400 before deduction 
of unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discount (December 31, 2014 – $696,060). The fair values of the remaining long-
term debt approximate their carrying values, as described in note 8.
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(b) Credit Risk

Substantial amounts of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers in the oil and natural gas industry and are subject 
to normal industry credit risks. The Company mitigates this risk through its credit policies and practices including the use of 
credit limits and approvals, and by monitoring the financial condition of its customers. At December 31, 2015, the Company 
had a provision for doubtful accounts receivable of $2,854 (December 31, 2014 – $1,025).

Payment terms with customers vary by country and contract. Standard payment terms are 30 days from invoice date. The 
Company’s aged trade and accrued accounts receivable at December 31, 2015 and 2014, excluding any impaired accounts, are 
as follows:

As at December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Current 161,082 350,870

31 – 60 days 29,386 92,077

61 – 90 days 7,596 13,792

91+ days 13,974 31,737

Total 212,038 488,476

The Company’s accounts receivable that were greater than 90 days were primarily with customers operating in Argentina for 
which no provision has been made. The payment delay is consistent with the experience of many other oilfield service companies 
in that market. Although the timing is uncertain, collection is expected in its entirety. 

(c) Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to cash flow risk due to fluctuating interest payments required to service any floating-rate debt. The 
increase or decrease in annual interest expense for each 1 percentage point change in interest rates on floating-rate debt at 
December 31, 2015 amounts to $1,269 (December 31, 2014 – $707).

The Company’s effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2015 was 7.8 percent (year ended December 31, 2014 
– 7.9 percent).

(d) Liquidity Risk

The Company’s principal sources of liquidity are operating cash flows, existing or new credit facilities and new share equity. 
The Company monitors its liquidity to ensure it has sufficient funds to complete planned capital and other expenditures. The 
Company mitigates liquidity risk by maintaining adequate banking and credit facilities and monitoring its forecast and actual 
cash flows. The Company may also adjust its capital spending and dividends to maintain liquidity.

The expected timing of cash outflows relating to financial liabilities is outlined in the table below:

At December 31, 2015 Total <1 Year 1 – 3 Years 4 – 6 Years 7 – 9 Years Thereafter
(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Bank loan(1) 69,253 5,362 16,086 16,086 16,086 15,633

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 172,633 172,633 — — — —

Long-term debt(1) 1,208,693 68,134 310,158 830,401 — —
(1) Principal and interest
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At December 31, 2014 Total <1 Year 1 – 3 Years 4 – 6 Years 7 – 9 Years Thereafter
(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Bank loan(1) 20,690 20,690 — — — —

Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 356,933 356,933 — — — —

Long-term payable 4,060 — 4,060 — — —

Long-term debt(1) 1,016,356 65,419 202,671 748,266 — —
(1) Principal and interest

(e) Foreign Exchange Risk

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk associated with foreign operations where assets, liabilities, revenue and costs 
are denominated in currencies other than Canadian dollars. These currencies include the U.S. dollar, Russian rouble, Mexican 
peso and Argentinean peso. The Company is also exposed to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations in its Canadian 
operations on purchases of products and property, plant and equipment from vendors in the United States. In addition, the 
Company’s senior unsecured notes and related interest expense are denominated in U.S. dollars. 

The amount of this debt and related interest expressed in Canadian dollars varies with fluctuations in the US$/Cdn$ exchange 
rate. The risk is mitigated, however, by the Company’s U.S. operations and related revenue streams. A change in the value of 
foreign currencies in the Company’s financial instruments (cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and debt) would have 
had the following impact on net income and other comprehensive income:

At December 31, 2015
Impact to

Net Income

Impact to Other
Comprehensive

Income

(C$000s) ($) ($)

1% change in value of U.S. dollar 330 3,167

1% change in value of Russian rouble — 434

At December 31, 2014
Impact to

Net Income

Impact to Other
Comprehensive

Income

(C$000s) ($) ($)

1% change in value of U.S. dollar 216 2,654

1% change in value of Russian rouble — 471

16.  SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities are as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Accounts receivable 299,141 (125,291)

Inventory 40,207 (48,021)

Prepaid expenses and deposits (1,146) 317

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (172,055) 94,886

Income taxes payable (7,396) 5,002

Other long-term liabilities (4,060) 3,862

154,691 (69,245)

Income taxes paid 9,268 10,731
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Purchase of property, plant and equipment is comprised of:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014

(C$000s) ($) ($)

Property, plant and equipment additions (157,934) (177,585)

Change in liabilities related to purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,839) 15,036

(160,773) (162,549)

17.  BUSINESS COMBINATION
On July 6, 2015, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of GASFRAC Energy Services Inc. (“GASFRAC”) , an oil and 
gas well fracturing company specializing in gas fracturing technologies, operating in western Canada, for a total purchase price 
of $9,498. The purchase was recognized as a business combination and accounted for as such using the acquisition method of 
accounting under IFRS 3 Business Combinations.

The recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired are as follows:

(C$000s) ($)

Property, plant and equipment 7,463

Deferred income tax asset 34,000

Total identifiable net assets 41,463

Gain on business combination (31,965)

Total consideration 9,498

The composition of the business combination expenses reported in the statement of operations is as follows:

(C$000s) ($)

Gain on business combination (31,965)

Acquisition costs 978

Business combination (30,987)

The gain of $31,965 was recognized in the statement of operations on the acquisition date and represents the excess of the 
fair value of identifiable assets over the consideration paid.

The Company has reassessed the fair value of the identifiable assets purchased and the fair value of the consideration transferred 
in determining the gain, as required under IFRS.

During the period July 7, 2015 to December 31, 2015, the acquisition contributed immaterial operating income to the Company. 
The pro-forma estimated effects on revenue and operating income, had the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2015, would 
have been insignificant.

Deferred tax assets in the amount of $34,000 were recognized on the acquisition of GASFRAC during the period. The Company 
recognizes the financial statement impact of a tax filing position when it is probable based on technical merits that the position 
will be sustained upon audit. To the extent that any interpretation of tax law is successfully challenged by the tax authorities 
and future tax assets will not be realized, the effect of such an adjustment will be recognized into income as part of income 
tax expense and could materially affect the Company’s estimate of current and deferred income taxes.
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18.  CAPITAL STRUCTURE
The Company’s capital structure is comprised of shareholders’ equity and debt. The Company’s objectives in managing capital 
are (i) to maintain flexibility so as to preserve its access to capital markets and its ability to meet its financial obligations, and 
(ii) to finance growth, including potential acquisitions.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changing market conditions and new 
opportunities, while remaining cognizant of the cyclical nature of the oilfield services sector. To maintain or adjust its capital 
structure, the Company may revise its capital spending, adjust dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or new debt 
or repay existing debt.

The Company monitors its capital structure and financing requirements using, amongst other parameters, the ratio of net debt 
to operating income. Operating income for this purpose is calculated on a 12-month trailing basis and is defined as follows:

For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Net income (227,426) 67,502

Adjusted for the following:

Depreciation 156,638 139,395

Foreign exchange losses 37,025 30,167

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2,257) 1,577

Business combination (note 17) (30,987) —

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (note 5) 114,479 4,620

Impairment of inventory (note 4) 14,333 —

Impairment of goodwill (note 6) 9,544 979

Provision for settlement of litigation (note 23) 3,165 4,640

Interest 68,967 59,584

Income taxes (114,097) 48,746

Operating income 29,384 357,210

Net debt for this purpose is calculated as follows:

As at December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs and debt discount (note 8) 927,793 738,815

Bank loans (note 7) 15,633 16,388

Finance lease obligation 820 1,506

Less: cash and cash equivalents (124,005) (99,129)

Net debt 820,241 657,580

The ratio of net debt to operating income does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and may not be comparable to 
similar measures used by other companies.

At December 31, 2015, the net debt to operating income ratio was 27.91:1 (December 31, 2014 - 1.84:1) calculated on a 12-
month trailing basis as follows:

For The Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s, except ratio) ($) ($)

Net debt 820,241 657,580

Operating income 29,384 357,210

Net debt to operating income ratio 27.91:1 1.84:1
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The Company’s net debt to operating income ratio has increased during 2015 due to a cyclical low in activity and pricing in the 
North American pressure pumping market, combined with the foreign exchange impact of the senior unsecured notes, which 
are denominated in U.S. dollars. The notes are not due until December 1, 2020. 

The Company is subject to certain financial covenants relating to working capital, leverage and the generation of cash flow in 
respect of its operating and revolving credit facilities. These covenants are monitored on a monthly basis. Prior to the end of 
the fourth quarter, the Company negotiated amendments including waivers and increases to certain of its financial covenant 
thresholds pertaining to its credit facilities, as shown below. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company was in compliance 
with its covenants with respect to its credit facilities.

Quarters Ended 2015 2016 2017

Working capital ratio not to fall below 1.15x 1.15x 1.15x

Funded Debt to Adjusted EBITDA not to exceed(1)(2)(3) 4.50x 5.00x    4.50x/4.00x

Funded Debt to Capitalization not to exceed(2)(4) 0.30x 0.30x 0.30x
(1) Funded Debt to Adjusted EBITDA covenant has been waived for the quarters ended March 31, 2016 and June 30, 2016  and increases to 5.00x for September 30, 2016 and December 
31, 2016. The covenant declines to 4.50x for the quarters ended March 31, 2017 and June 30, 2017 and declines to 4.00x from the quarters ended September 30, 2017 and December 
31, 2017 and is set at 3.00x for each quarter after December 31, 2017.
(2) Funded Debt is defined as Total Debt excluding all outstanding senior unsecured notes. Total Debt includes bank loans and long-term debt (before unamortized debt issuance costs 
and debt discount) plus outstanding letters of credit (excluding a US$25,000 letter of credit supporting an Argentinean bank loan) less cash on hand with lenders. 
(3) Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net income or loss for the period less interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, non-cash items including stock-based compensation, non-
controlling interest, and gains and losses that are extraordinary or non-recurring. 
(4) Capitalization is Total Debt plus Equity attributable to the shareholders of Calfrac.

For the quarter ended December 31, 2015 through the quarter ended December 31, 2017, advances under the credit facilities 
will be limited by a borrowing base. The borrowing base is calculated based on the following:

i. Eligible North American accounts receivable, which is based on 75 percent of accounts receivable owing by companies 
rated BB+ or lower by Standard & Poor’s (or a similar rating agency) and 85 percent of accounts receivable from 
companies rated BBB- or higher;

ii. 100 percent of unencumbered cash of the parent company and its U.S. operating subsidiary, excluding any cash held 
in a segregated account for the purposes of a potential equity cure; and 

iii. 25 percent of the net book value of property, plant and equipment (PP&E) of the parent company and its U.S. operating 
subsidiary. The value of PP&E excludes assets under construction and is limited to a maximum of $90,000 until June 
30, 2016 and $150,000 thereafter. 

For the quarter ended December 31, 2015 through the quarter ended December 31, 2017, distributions are restricted other 
than those relating to the Company’s share unit plans and dividend distributions, provided that the rate of dividends must not 
exceed $0.015625 per share quarterly. 

The indenture governing the senior unsecured notes contains restrictions on the Company’s ability to pay dividends, purchase 
and redeem shares of the Company, and make certain restricted investments in circumstances where 

i. the Company is in default under the indenture or the making of such payment would result in a default; 
ii. the Company is not meeting the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio(1) under the indenture of at least 2:1 for the most recent 

four fiscal quarters; or 
iii. there is insufficient room for such payment within a builder basket included in the indenture.  

(1)  The Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is defined as cash flow to interest expense. Cash flow is a non-GAAP measure and does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and is defined 
under the indenture agreement as net income (loss) attributable to the shareholders of Calfrac before depreciation, extraordinary gains or losses, unrealized foreign exchange gains 
or losses, gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment, impairment of assets, restructuring charges, provision for settlement of litigation, stock-based compensation, 
interest, and income taxes.

These limitations on restricted payments are tempered by the existence of a number of exceptions to the general prohibition, 
including a basket allowing for restricted payments in an aggregate amount of up to US$20,000. 

The indenture also restricts the incurrence of additional indebtedness if the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio determined on a pro 
forma basis for the most recently ended four fiscal quarter period for which internal financial statements are available is not 
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at least 2:1.  As is the case with restricted payments, there are a number of exceptions to this prohibition on the incurrence of 
additional indebtedness, including the incurrence of additional debt under credit facilities up to the greater of $175,000 or 
30% of the Company’s consolidated tangible assets.

As at December 31, 2015, the Company’s Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio was 0.8:1, which was less than the required 2:1 ratio. 
Failing to meet the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is not an event of default under the indenture, and the baskets highlighted in 
the preceding paragraphs provide sufficient flexibility for the Company to make anticipated restricted payments, such as 
dividends, and incur additional indebtedness as required to conduct its operations and satisfy its obligations during this period 
of weakened market conditions. 

The Company has measures in place to ensure that it has sufficient liquidity to navigate the cyclical nature of the oilfield services 
sector and safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. As discussed above, the Company negotiated 
amendments to its credit facilities to provide increased financial flexibility. These amendments include an “Equity Cure” feature 
pursuant to which proceeds from equity offerings may be applied as both an adjustment in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA 
and as a reduction of Funded Debt towards the Funded Debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio covenant for any of the quarters ending 
prior to and including December 31, 2017, subject to certain conditions including:

i. the Company is only permitted to use the proceeds of a common share issuance to increase Adjusted EBITDA a 
maximum of two times; 

ii. the Company cannot use the proceeds of a common share issuance to increase Adjusted EBITDA in consecutive quarter 
ends;

iii. the maximum proceeds of a common share issuance permitted to be attributed to Adjusted EBITDA cannot exceed 
the greater of 50 percent of Adjusted EBITDA on a rolling four-quarter basis and $25,000; and 

iv. if proceeds are not used immediately as an equity cure they must be held in a segregated bank account pending an 
election to use them for such purpose, and if they are removed from such account but not used as an equity cure 
they will no longer be eligible for such use.

In addition, to the extent that proceeds from an equity offering are used as part of the Equity Cure, such proceeds are included 
in the calculation of the Company’s borrowing base. 

19.  RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In November 2010, the Company lent a senior officer $2,500 to purchase common shares of the Company on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange. The loan is on a non-recourse basis and is secured by the common shares acquired with the loan proceeds. The loan 
was amended in February 2015 to extend the term by five years to November 8, 2020 and change the interest rate to the 
prescribed rate under the Income Tax Act (Canada), which rate was 1.0 percent per annum at the time of the amendment. The 
market value of the shares that secure the loan was approximately $387 as at December 31, 2015 (December 31, 2014 - $1,694). 
In accordance with applicable accounting standards regarding share purchase loans receivable, this loan is classified as a 
reduction of shareholders’ equity due to its non-recourse nature. In addition, the shares purchased with the loan proceeds are 
considered to be, in substance, stock options.

The Company leases certain premises from an entity controlled by a director of the Company. The rent charged for these 
premises during the year ended December 31, 2015 was $1,083 (year ended December 31, 2014 - $822), as measured at the 
exchange amount.

As disclosed in note 9, the Company issued common shares under a private placement. Of the total gross proceeds of $27,500, 
$5,893 was purchased by directors or entities controlled by directors of the Company. 

20.  PRESENTATION OF EXPENSES
The Company presents its expenses on the consolidated statements of operations using the function of expense method 
whereby expenses are classified according to their function within the Company. This method was selected as it is more closely 
aligned with the Company’s business structure. The Company’s functions under IFRS are as follows:

• operations; and
• selling, general and administrative.

Cost of sales includes direct operating costs (including product costs, direct labour and overhead costs) and depreciation on 
assets relating to operations.
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Additional information on the nature of expenses is as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Product costs 513,804 726,229

Depreciation 156,638 139,395

Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount 2,625 2,049

Employee benefits expense (note 21) 399,287 535,948

21.  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
Employee benefits include all forms of consideration given by the Company in exchange for services rendered by employees.

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 382,789 510,481

Post-employment benefits (group retirement savings plan) 2,185 5,051

Share-based payments 176 10,923

Termination benefits 14,137 9,493

399,287 535,948

22.  COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
Key management is defined as the Company’s Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and Chief 
Operating Officer. Compensation awarded to key management comprised:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Salaries, fees and short-term benefits 1,740 3,331

Post-employment benefits (group retirement savings plan) 33 38

Share-based payments 474 2,106

2,247 5,475

In the event of termination, the three senior officers are entitled to one to two years of annual compensation, and to two years 
of annual compensation in the event of termination resulting from change of control.

23.  CONTINGENCIES

GREEK LITIGATION
As a result of the acquisition and amalgamation with Denison in 2004, the Company assumed certain legal obligations relating 
to Denison’s Greek operations.

In 1998, North Aegean Petroleum Company E.P.E. (“NAPC”), a Greek subsidiary of a consortium in which Denison participated 
(and which is now a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company), terminated employees in Greece as a result of the cessation 
of its oil and natural gas operations in that country. Several groups of former employees filed claims against NAPC and the 
consortium alleging that their termination was invalid and that their severance pay was improperly determined.

In 1999, the largest group of plaintiffs received a ruling from the Athens Court of First Instance that their termination was 
invalid and that salaries in arrears amounting to approximately $10,289 (6,846 euros) plus interest were due to the former 
employees. This decision was appealed to the Athens Court of Appeal, which allowed the appeal in 2001 and annulled the 
above-mentioned decision of the Athens Court of First Instance. The said group of former employees filed an appeal with the 
Supreme Court of Greece, which was heard on May 29, 2007. The Supreme Court of Greece allowed the appeal and sent the 
matter back to the Athens Court of Appeal for the consideration of the quantum of awardable salaries in arrears. On June 3, 



Calfrac Well Services Ltd.  2015 Annual Report

73

2008, the Athens Court of Appeal rejected NAPC’s appeal and reinstated the award of the Athens Court of First Instance, which 
decision was further appealed to the Supreme Court of Greece. The matter was heard on April 20, 2010 and a decision rejecting 
such appeal was rendered in June 2010. As a result of Denison’s participation in the consortium that was named in the lawsuit, 
the Company has been served with three separate payment orders, one on March 24, 2015 and two others on December 29, 
2015.  The Company was also served with an enforcement order on November 23, 2015.  Oppositions have been filed on behalf 
of the Company in respect of each of these orders which oppose the orders on the basis that they were improperly issued and 
are barred from a statute of limitations perspective.  The salaries in arrears sought to be recovered through these orders are 
part of the $10,289 (6,846 euros) cited above and the interest being sought in respect of these orders is part of the $24,876 
(16,552 euros) cited below.  Provisional orders granting a temporary suspension of any enforcement proceedings have been 
granted in respect of all of the orders that have been served.  A hearing in respect of the order served on March 24, 2015 has 
been heard and a decision is pending.  A hearing in respect of the orders served in December of 2015 is scheduled for September 
20, 2016, and a hearing in respect of the order served on November 23, 2015 is scheduled for April 15, 2016.

NAPC is also the subject of a claim for approximately $4,301 (2,862 euros) plus associated penalties and interest from the Greek 
social security agency for social security obligations associated with the salaries in arrears that are the subject of the above-
mentioned decision.

The maximum aggregate interest and penalties payable under the claims noted above, as well as three other immaterial claims 
against NAPC, amounted to $24,876 (16,552 euros) as at December 31, 2015.

Management is of the view that it is improbable there will be a material financial impact to the Company as a result of these 
claims. Consequently, no provision has been recorded in these consolidated financial statements.

U.S. LITIGATION
A collective and class action complaint was filed against the Company in September 2012 in the U.S. District Court for the 
Western District of Pennsylvania, alleging failure to pay U.S. employees the amount of overtime pay required by the Fair Labor 
Standards Act (FLSA) and the Pennsylvania Minimum Wage Act. In May 2013, the plaintiffs amended their complaint to add a 
Colorado wage-hour claim. In June 2013, the parties stipulated to conditional certification of a putative class in the FLSA 
collective action. After notice of the right to opt-in was mailed to approximately 1,200 current and former employees, 359 
individuals opted in. Pursuant to a court-approved discovery plan, discovery occurred as to a mutually agreed-upon sample of 
the conditionally-certified opt-in class.

The Company and the plaintiffs have reached a tentative settlement of all claims, including certain potential, related claims. 
The court granted final approval of the settlement on December 17, 2015. As part of the settlement, plaintiffs filed a second 
amended complaint to add Arkansas and North Dakota wage-hour claims. For settlement purposes only, the court conditionally 
certified classes for the FLSA claim and each of the four state law claims. The proposed settlement contemplates use of a claims 
procedure, pursuant to which each plaintiff and potential plaintiff would be required to file a claim to be entitled to receive 
money pursuant to the settlement. During 2015, the Company recorded an additional US$1,500 provision to reflect its current 
best estimate of the projected net cost of the settlement, for a total overall provision of US$5,500, and also incurred legal fees 
of approximately US$810. The Company does not have insurance coverage for these claims.

24.  SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company’s activities are conducted in four geographical segments: Canada, the United States, Russia and Latin America 
(comprised of Argentina and Mexico). All activities are related to hydraulic fracturing, coiled tubing, cementing and other well 
completion services for the oil and natural gas industry.

The business segments presented reflect the Company’s management structure and the way its management reviews business 
performance. The Company evaluates the performance of its operating segments primarily based on operating income, as 
defined below.
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Canada United States Russia Latin America Corporate Consolidated
(C$000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Year Ended December 31, 2015

Revenue 533,102 652,007 137,876 172,220 — 1,495,205

Operating income (loss)(1) 34,923 (57) 14,743 13,295 (33,520) 29,384

Segmented assets 690,980 843,300 100,559 180,984 — 1,815,823

Capital expenditures 46,845 65,645 2,048 43,396 — 157,934

Goodwill — — — — — —

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Revenue 942,947 1,214,560 171,703 167,721 — 2,496,931

Operating income (loss)(1) 175,771 200,484 18,734 26,858 (64,637) 357,210

Segmented assets 822,699 1,022,145 111,576 200,947 — 2,157,367

Capital expenditures 57,604 81,566 10,372 28,043 — 177,585

Goodwill 7,236 2,308 — — — 9,544
(1) Operating income (loss) is defined as net income (loss) before depreciation, foreign exchange gains or losses, gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment, expenses 
and gain related to business combinations, impairment of property, plant and equipment, impairment of inventory, impairment of goodwill, provision for settlement of litigation, 
interest, and income taxes.

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Net (loss) income (227,426) 67,502

Add back (deduct):

Depreciation 156,638 139,395

Foreign exchange losses 37,025 30,167

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2,257) 1,577

Business combination (30,987) —

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 114,479 4,620

Impairment of inventory 14,333 —

Impairment of goodwill 9,544 979

Provision for settlement of litigation 3,165 4,640

Interest 68,967 59,584

Income taxes (114,097) 48,746

Operating income 29,384 357,210

Operating income does not have a standardized meaning under IFRS and may not be comparable to similar measures used by 
other companies. 

The following table sets forth consolidated revenue by service line:

Years Ended December 31, 2015 2014
(C$000s) ($) ($)

Fracturing 1,321,370 2,293,447

Coiled tubing 89,950 110,113

Cementing 72,872 80,633

Other 11,013 12,738

1,495,205 2,496,931
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The Company’s customer base consists of approximately 166 oil and natural gas exploration and production companies, ranging 
from large multi-national publicly traded companies to small private companies. Notwithstanding the Company’s broad 
customer base, Calfrac had five significant customers that collectively accounted for approximately 41 percent of the Company’s 
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 (year ended December 31, 2014 – six significant customers for approximately 
47 percent) and, of such customers, one customer accounted for approximately 11 percent of the Company’s revenue for the 
year ended December 31, 2015 (year ended December 31, 2014 – 11 percent).

25.  DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN
The Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRIP) allows shareholders to direct cash dividends paid on all or a portion of their 
common shares to be reinvested in additional common shares that are issued at 95 percent of the volume-weighted average 
price of the common shares traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange during the last five trading days preceding the relevant 
dividend payment date.

A dividend of $0.015625 per common share, totalling $1,806, was declared on December 4, 2015, to be paid on January 15, 
2016. This amount has been accrued in the financial statements.

A dividend of $0.015625 per common share, totalling $1,488, was declared on September 24, 2015 and paid on October 5, 
2015. 

A dividend of $0.0625 per common share was declared on June 17, 2015 and paid on July 15, 2015. Of the total dividend of 
$6,066, $1,500 was reinvested under the DRIP into 219,549 common shares of the Company.

A dividend of $0.125 per common share was declared on March 18, 2015 and paid on April 15. 2015. Of the total dividend of 
$12,190, $5,645 was reinvested under the DRIP into 583,187 common shares of the Company.

A dividend of $0.125 per common share was declared on December 4, 2014 and paid on January 15, 2015. Of the total dividend 
of $11,907, $5,588 was reinvested under the DRIP into 671,643 common shares of the Company.

On September 24, 2015, the Company announced that the DRIP was suspended.
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HISTORICAL REVIEW

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

(C$000s, except per share amounts) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

(unaudited)

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenue 1,495,205 2,496,931 1,563,814 1,595,216 1,537,392

Operating income(1) 29,384 357,210 188,076 257,013 412,828

Per share - basic (2) 0.31 3.80 2.06 2.90 4.72

Per share - diluted (2) 0.31 3.77 2.04 2.87 4.65

Adjusted EBITDA(1) 52,057 357,295 194,878 262,154 419,334

Per share - basic(2) 0.54 3.80 2.13 2.96 4.80

Per share - diluted(2) 0.54 3.77 2.12 2.93 4.72

Net income (loss) attributable to the
shareholders of Calfrac (221,594) 66,976 27,914 97,146 187,451

Per share - basic (2) (2.31) 0.71 0.31 1.10 2.15

Per share - diluted (2) (2.31) 0.71 0.31 1.09 2.11

Capital expenditures 157,934 177,585 170,517 279,017 323,962

FINANCIAL POSITION, END OF PERIOD

Current Assets 495,179 819,298 590,515 492,326 552,785

Total Assets 1,815,823 2,157,367 1,869,931 1,524,821 1,405,121

Working Capital 305,952 441,234 319,934 322,857 398,526

Long-Term Debt 927,270 738,386 651,553 441,018 450,545

Total Equity 623,719 832,403 795,207 780,759 700,569

COMMON SHARE DATA

Common shares outstanding (000s), end of 
period(2) 115,580 95,253 92,597 90,041 87,418

Weighted average (diluted)(2) 96,076 94,781 92,090 89,616 88,786

Share trading

High ($)(2) 11.17 22.57 17.95 17.48 19.33

Low ($)(2) 1.37 8.60 11.71 10.11 10.26

Close ($), end of period(2) 2.29 10.01 15.50 12.53 14.25

Volume (000s)(2) 136,633 112,963 89,516 109,716 84,192

OPERATING, END OF PERIOD

Active pumping horsepower (000s) 776 1,254 1,194 977 719

Idle pumping horsepower (000s) 524 — — — —

Total pumping horsepower (000s) 1,300 1,254 1,194 977 719

Active coiled tubing units (#) 20 36 38 29 29

Idle coiled tubing units (#) 17 — — — —

Total coiled tubing units (#) 37 36 38 29 29

Active cementing units (#) 23 31 31 26 23

Idle cementing units (#) 8 — — — —

Total cementing units (#) 31 31 31 26 23
(1) Refer to “Non-GAAP Measures” on pages 26 and 27 for further information.
(2) Comparative amounts were adjusted to reflect the Company’s two-for-one common share split that occurred on June 2, 2014.
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